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1. General information on the group 
 
Joyou AG is a German stock corporation operating under German law whose finan-
cial year is the calendar year (i.e. 1 January through 31 December). 
 
The Company was founded on 30 June 2008 by a contribution in kind consisting of 
all shares in Hong Kong Zhongyu Sanitary Technology Limited ("Joyou Hong Kong"). 
The completion of the formation became legally effective by registration in the com-
mercial register of the local court of Hamburg on 28 August 2008. On 8 June and 
16 October 2009 Joyou Hong Kong issued preferred shares to investors unrelated 
with Joyou AG leading to a dilution of Joyou AG’s voting rights in Joyou Hong Kong 
to approximately 59%. While all ordinary shares are held by Joyou AG, all preferred 
shares are held by four companies. Due to the preferential rights of those preferred 
shares issued they are to be accounted for as a financial liability under IFRS; there-
fore, Joyou AG does not disclose a non-controlling interest. 
 
Joyou Hong Kong itself is an intermediate holding company for three legal entities 
located in Nan'an City, Quanzhou, Fujian Province, Peoples Republic of China 
(“China”), which carry out the operational business of Joyou: Quanzhou Joyou Sani-
tation Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. ("Joyou Sanitation Technology"), Joyou Group 
Building Materials Co., Ltd. ("Joyou Building Materials") and Nan'an Joyou Galvaniza-
tion Industrial Co., Ltd. ("Joyou Galvanization"). The sole shareholder of Joyou Gal-
vanization and Joyou Building Materials is Joyou Sanitation Technology, the sole 
shareholder of which is Joyou Hong Kong. Therefore, Joyou group (“Joyou”), con-
sists of Joyou AG, Joyou Hong Kong, Joyou Sanitation Technology, Joyou Building 
Materials and Joyou Galvanization. 
 
Joyou designs, produces and sells faucets and other sanitary ware products in China 
under its brand name "Joyou" and is also engaged as a manufacturer of Original 
Equipment Manufacturing ("OEM") / Original Design Manufacturing ("ODM ") prod-
ucts for international sanitary ware companies, wholesalers and trading companies in 
the United States and Europe as well as certain emerging markets. In addition, Joyou 
sells components for faucets and copper semi-finished products to trading companies 
and sanitary ware companies in China. According to BSRIA’s China Bathroom-Study 
2009, Joyou is one of the leading single-brand manufacturers of bathroom, kitchen 
and other faucets in China in terms of revenues.  
 
The development of the Chinese sanitary ware market is primarily driven by the con-
struction industry both as a result of new construction activity and renovations. The 
level of demand for sanitary ware deriving from such projects in turn strongly de-
pends on consumer preferences, which is influenced by changes in income levels 
caused by general economic growth, and, in particular, the growth of the Chinese 
gross domestic product ("GDP"). 
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2. Business and operating environment 

2.1. Overall Economic Development 
 
With an average Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) increase of more than 8% annu-
ally since 1978, China has become a major player in the global economy. GDP in-
creased from RMB 21,192 billion in 2006 to RMB 30,067 billion in 2008. Despite be-
ing affected by the worldwide financial crisis, China's GDP continued its growth by 
8.7% year on year to RMB 33,535 billion in 2009 representing one of the highest 
GDP growth rates worldwide. China's GDP is expected to further grow with a com-
pound annual growth rate ("CAGR") of 8.3% until 2012. 
 
China's sustainable historic GDP growth was accompanied by rising income levels in 
particular for urban residents. During the period from 2001 to 2008, the annual dis-
posable income of Chinese urban residents increased to RMB 15,781 from RMB 
6,860 (giving a CAGR of 14.1%), leading to increased living standards. Furthermore, 
during recent decades there has been a strong connection between urbanization and 
economic development in China and it is anticipated that cities will be the major 
driver for China's continued GDP growth over the next two decades. For example, 
cities generated approximately 75% of Chinese GDP in 2005 and the percentage is 
expected to rise to over 90% in 2025.  
 
In 2005, urban GDP in China amounted to RMB 12,000 billion. According to the study 
“Preparing for China’s Urban Billion” published by McKinsey Global Institute in March 
2008, the estimated annual growth rate is 8.5%, leading to an urban GDP which is 
expected to increase about five times to over RMB 60,000 billion by 2025. By the end 
of 2008, the urban population of China was 607 million residents and the number of 
Chinese cities had reached 655. Among them, there are 122 cities with a population 
of more than 1 million residents and 118 cities with a population of 0.5 million to 
1 million residents.  
 
The economic growth, the increasing disposable incomes, the growth of the Chinese 
population and the urbanization process are major factors contributing to a rapid de-
velopment of China's building and construction industry. The floor space of buildings 
under construction in China increased from 4.17 billion square meters ("sqm") in 
2006 by 20.4% to 5.02 billion sqm in 2007 while the floor space of buildings com-
pleted increased from 1.77 billion sqm by 10.9% to 1.96 billion sqm. Mainly, due to 
the worldwide economic recession the floor space of buildings sold decreased by 
19.7% in 2008. The growth rates of China's construction sector are primarily attribut-
able to a continuing strong urbanization trend in China accompanied by demand for 
increasing per capita floor space. Apart from the urbanization trend, demand for in-
creasing per capita floor space and regular construction activities including renova-
tions are major drivers for the Chinese building and construction industry. In addition, 
in November 2008, the PRC government announced an economic stimulus package 
in the amount of USD 584 billion, comprising USD 40.9 billion for low-income housing 
projects, USD 54.6 billion for improving people's living standards and infrastructure in 
rural areas and USD 146 billion for reconstruction in regions most adversely affected 
by the 12 May Earthquake.  
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2.2. Development of the Chinese Sanitary Ware Industry 

2.2.1. Market development 
 
The demand for sanitary ware products in China is mainly driven by the construction 
industry. Due to the expected urbanization in China, and the affordable housing pro-
gram within the Economic Stimulus package, demand from project business will be of 
particular importance for the Chinese sanitary ware market.  
 
In 2008, the overall value of the Chinese Sanitary Ware Market was at EUR 1,852 
million with a volume of 95.29 million units sold. Total sales of units of sanitary ware 
products increased from 93.08 million units in 2007 by 2.4% to 95.29 million units in 
2008. For 2009, the sales volume is expected to increase by 5.3% to 100,301 thou-
sand units.  
 
Price increases contributed significantly to the overall growth indicating a general 
shift in the market to higher quality and more expensive products. The overall value 
of sold sanitary ware products increased from EUR 1,809 million in 2007 by 2.4% to 
EUR 1,851.8 million in 2008. For 2009, the overall value of sold sanitary ware prod-
ucts is expected to significantly increase by 23% to EUR 2,278.5 million in 2009. 
 
According to market studies by BSRIA Limited the relevant Chinese market for sani-
tary ware products consists of the following main segments: i) Faucets, such as taps 
and mixers for washbasins, kitchen, baths, showers, bidets and basins, ii) Ceramic 
and non-ceramic sanitary ware, such as basins, pedestals, water closets, cisterns, 
bidets and urinals and iii) Bathtubs. 
 

Faucets 
According to the BSRIA study “China Bathroom 2009”, the faucet market is divided 
into markets for pillars, one- and two handle mixers, thermostatic mixers and other 
taps which are produced for the following applications: bath and bath/shower, shower 
only, basin, bidets and kitchen. The Chinese market for faucets has grown to EUR 
770.9 million in 2008 and is expected to increase by 20.3% to EUR 927.1 million in 
2009. The volume of faucets sold increased from 37,037 units sold in 2007 by 19.5% 
to 44,257 units sold in 2008 and is expected to further increase by 5% to 46,470 units 
sold in 2009.  
 

Ceramics and Non-Ceramic Sanitary ware 
The market consists of ceramic and non-ceramic products including basins, pedes-
tals, water closets, cisterns, bidets and urinals. According to the BSRIA study “China 
Bathroom 2009”, the value of ceramic and non-ceramic sanitary ware sold decreased 
slightly from EUR 754.8 million in 2007 by 2.1 % to EUR 738.9 million in 2008 but is 
expected to increase by 25% to EUR 949 million in 2009. The sales volume de-
creased from 50,836 thousand units in 2007 by 7.1 % to 47,228 million units in 2008 
and is expected to increase by 5.6 % to 49,872.8 thousand units in 2009. 
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Bathtubs 
Finally, the market for bathtubs represents the smallest segment of the entire Sani-
tary Ware Market in China. The segment does not have growth rates similar to the 
faucet segment. The segment is subdivided in to the categories bathtubs and hydro 
massage baths. In 2008, total sales in this segment accounted for EUR 342 million, 
EUR 297.5 million or 87% of which were generated in the bathtubs category, while 
sales in the hydro massage category accounted for 13% of the total sales value ac-
cording to the BSRIA study “China Bathroom 2009”. Total sales in this segment are 
expected to increase by 17.7% to EUR 402.4 million with 3.96 million units sold in 
2009. 
 

2.2.2. Market competition 
The Chinese Sanitary Ware Market is highly fragmented. A large number of domestic 
and international producers compete for market share. For example, according to 
BSRIA’s China Bathroom 2009 the leading players for taps and mixers in 2008, Jo-
moo, Huayi, Huida and Green Sun accounted for only 31.6% of the overall market 
share in China.  
 
Most domestic companies service the low-end of the Sanitary Ware Market and 
compete mainly on price. International firms service the mid-market and the high-end 
market and differ from each other not only by pricing but also by their respective 
product image and branding.  
 
According to BSRIA estimations Joyou's market share in 2008 for taps and mixers 
was 11.8% in sales volume and 8.1% in value of the taps and mixers sold. Although 
market data for 2009 is not available yet, we believe that Joyou has been able to im-
prove its market position. 
 

2.2.3. Distribution chains 
 
The distribution for sanitary ware products in China is organized mainly through who-
lesalers but also through installers, retailers (including so called "do it yourself" (DIY) 
shops), direct supply to house builders and others such as commissioning agents. 
Wholesalers accounted for 95% of the distribution of sanitary ware products in China 
in 2008 whereas retailers and direct supplies accounted for approximately 2% each.  

 

2.3. Development of Joyou 
 
According to BSRIA’s China Bathroom-Study 2009, Joyou is one of the leading sin-
gle-brand manufacturers of bathroom, kitchen and other faucets in China in terms of 
revenues. We position our own brand products in the medium-range segment of the 
Chinese sanitary ware market, targeting our sales mainly at private consumers of the 
growing Chinese middle class, as well as large-scale construction projects such as 
new hotels or other buildings of public use.  
 



Page 7 of 36 

We manufacture faucets, valves and other bathroom accessories made of brass. 
Other finished products sold by us such as shower sets, showerheads, ceramic sani-
tary ware, bathroom cabinets and copper pipes used for bathroom accessories are 
sourced from a number of third-party producers that manufacture the finished prod-
ucts or components according to our design specifications.  
 
Our own brand sales are currently focused on the Chinese market and are usually 
made through retail point of sale in our own retail distribution network operated and 
controlled by regional distributors and retail shop-owners. At the end of 2008, we had 
1,999 retail points of sale and own brand sales of EUR 93.6 million or 69% of total 
revenues. In 2009, we have continued to develop our retail distribution network and 
added in total 528 retail points of sale increasing the number of retail points of sale by 
some 26%. As at 31 December 2009 we had 2,527 retail points of sale. At the same 
time, the own brand sales increased by EUR 31.7 million or 34 % to EUR 125.3 mil-
lion or 73 % of total revenues. 
 
In our OEM/ODM business, we sell finished sanitary ware products, such as faucets, 
thermostatic and electronic faucets, valves, and brass-made components for faucets 
or other sanitary ware products. In 2009, the OEM/ODM business contributed 21% or 
EUR 35.8 million to total revenues. In 2008, the OEM/ODM sales contributed 13% or 
EUR 17.8 million to total revenues. At the same time, component sales decreased 
significantly from EUR 23.6 million or 17% of total revenues in 2008 to EUR 11.2 mil-
lion or 7% of total revenues in 2009. This decrease was mainly caused by allocating 
production resources to higher margin, own brand product manufacturing.  
 
Despite the effects of the global financial crisis on the world and also the Chinese 
economy, Joyou increased its revenues to kEUR 172,327 and its profit for the period 
to kEUR 22,262 in 2009, as compared to revenues of kEUR 135,045 and a profit for 
the period of kEUR 16,133 in 2008. This increase mainly reflects the continued ex-
pansion of sales of our own brand products through our enlarged retail distribution 
network. 
 
In June 2009, two investors invested in Joyou Hong Kong when said company issued 
preferred shares. In October 2009, with CRCI and Grohe Holding GmbH, two addi-
tional investors invested in Joyou Hong Kong, including a strategic investment by 
Grohe Holding GmbH. Grohe Holding GmbH is the controlling shareholder of the 
German based international sanitary ware producer Grohe and is ultimately con-
trolled by shareholders of CRCI. 
 
In connection with Grohe’s investment, we entered into a distribution agreement with 
Grohe under which we will act as distributor for certain Grohe branded products on 
the Chinese markets through unaffiliated regional distributors. With respect to certain 
agreed products manufactured and offered for sale by Grohe in the Asian market, we 
are granted exclusivity with regard to the distribution through retail distribution chan-
nels in China. The Grohe products are to be sold through regional distributors signed 
up by Joyou. We will sell the Grohe products in our own name and on our own ac-
count and will not receive any further compensation for our services in respect of the 
management of the distribution, sales and marketing of the Grohe products. The 
prices to be paid to Grohe will be agreed annually between Grohe and Joyou. The 
2009 revenues have not been influenced by said contract. 
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In order to further increase the awareness for and the image of our “Joyou” brand, we 
entered into an agreement with the Chinese high-diving athlete Ms. Guo Jingjing in 
October 2009. Ms. Guo Jingjing, one of the most popular sports athletes in China, will 
act as brand ambassador for Joyou in China. She is engaged to be the image spo-
kesperson for the sanitation products of Joyou and the relevant brands.  
 

2.4. Strategic objectives of Joyou 
The Chinese market for sanitary ware has grown significantly over the last few years 
and Joyou expects this growth to continue for the foreseeable future. In order to 
benefit from this growth, we will i) capture new market share through expanding our 
domestic distribution network, ii) further strengthen the recognition of our brand with 
consumers, distributors and retailers and also strengthen its project business iii) in-
crease the technological content of products and production iv) engage in selective 
acquisition and consolidation activities. We believe that this expanded retail distribu-
tion network will substantially assist the increase in the domestic awareness of our 
brand and thereby increase domestic sales of our own brand products.  
 
Currently we sell most of our products to the medium-range segment in the Chinese 
sanitary ware market, with only relatively few products sold to the high-end segment. 
Although we believe that the medium-range segment will be the fastest growing seg-
ment in the Chinese sanitary ware market, we also intend to increase our share of 
sales of high-end and premium products to capture the market potential resulting 
from the expected growth of the upper-middle classes of Chinese society. In October 
2009, Joyou entered into a cooperation agreement with Grohe under which Joyou will 
act as exclusive distributor for certain Grohe branded products to retail customers on 
the Chinese markets. Joyou believes that the association of Joyou branded products 
with Grohe branded products will further foster Joyou's perception as a high-quality 
producer of sanitary ware products with domestic roots but close connections to a 
premium international sanitary ware brand like Grohe. 
 
We anticipate a consolidation in the highly-fragmented sanitary ware market in China 
and expect that large manufacturers capable of supplying a complete range of prod-
ucts will have competitive advantages in this process because distributors generally 
prefer to cooperate with large manufacturers with a broad product offering. Therefore, 
we intend to become such a company that produces a complete range of sanitary 
ware products for bathroom and kitchen. In order to be able to reach this intended 
market position, we want to expand our production capabilities to manufacturing addi-
tional sanitary ware products in-house, in particular showerheads, ceramic sanitary 
ware and bathroom cabinets.  
 
Internationally, we intend to continue our business as an OEM/ODM manufacturer at 
the current level in terms of sales. Such sales offer substantive indirect strategic 
value thereby allowing us to have a better global marketing knowledge which is es-
sential for our domestic success. We are considering entering selected overseas 
markets in the medium-term to sell our own brand products, in particular European 
countries such as Germany and the United Kingdom, as well as selected emerging 
markets as we believe that there are business opportunities for high-quality products 
such as own brand products at competitive prices.  
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2.5. General Statement on the Business Environment 
Despite the global financial and economic crisis, China has experienced quite good 
economic conditions. As the development in China, especially in those areas sup-
porting the sanitary ware industry, are medium- to long-term effective mega-trends 
like urbanization and increasing average income of Chinese households, the busi-
ness environment as still been good for Joyou’s industry. As a leading manufacturer 
of sanitary ware products, Joyou has been able to benefit from those conditions. 
Market position and financial performance enabled Joyou to attract sufficient financ-
ing to support its continued growth. Overall, we believe that we have been enable to 
strengthen our market position. 
 
 

3. Results of Operations, Financial position and 
Net assets 

 
As Joyou Group was founded on 28 August 2008, prior year data consists only of the 
four month period September to December 2008. Therefore, a comparison of the de-
velopment of business, financial position and result of operations would not be mean-
ingful. Consequently, the following discussion compares the development in the 
business year 2009 with the 2008 figures of Joyou Sanitation Technology, Joyou 
Building Materials and Joyou Galvanization on a combined basis, which was derived 
from the audited Combined Financial Statements comprising combined financial in-
formation of Joyou Sanitation Technology, Joyou Building Materials and Joyou Gal-
vanization. 
 
 

3.1. Results of Operations 
In order to present the business, financial condition and result of operations for the 
last two financial years in relation to the business of Joyou, the following table pre-
sents the consolidated income statement of Joyou AG for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2009 together with the combined income statement of Joyou Sanitation Technol-
ogy, Joyou Building Materials and Joyou Galvanization for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2008 The table also presents results of operations as a percentage of reve-
nue for the periods under review. 
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3.1.1. Revenues 
Revenues are generated from the sale of bathroom faucets, kitchen products, shower 
products, other bathroom products and accessories, other faucets and sanitary 
hardware and components and copper semi-finished products. 
Most of Joyou's revenues are generated through its own brand business (domestic 
sales) and its OEM/ODM business (export sales). In addition, Joyou generates a por-
tion of its revenues through the sale of components (domestic sales).  
 
Revenues increased from kEUR 135,045 in the year ended 31 December 2008 by 
kEUR 37,282, or 28%, to kEUR 172,327 in the year ended 31 December 2009. 
Measured in RMB, revenues increased by 19% during this period. This increase re-
sulted from an increase in sales volumes in respect of bathroom faucets, kitchen 
products, shower products, other bathroom products and accessories, whilst other 
faucets and sanitary hardware and components and copper semi-finished products 
reported a decline in their respective revenues.  
 
The sale of bathroom faucets increased by kEUR 43,165 (a 109% increase over the 
year ended 31 December 2008), kitchen products by kEUR 9,401 (a 54% increase 
over the year ended 31 December 2008), shower products by kEUR 11,218 (a 107% 
increase over the year ended 31 December 2008) and other bathroom products and 
accessories increased by kEUR 11,506 (a 364% increase over the year ended 
31 December 2008), whilst other faucets and sanitary hardware decreased by 
kEUR 14,614 (a 43% decrease compared to the year ended 31 December 2008) and 
components and copper semi finished products decreased by kEUR 23,394 (a 77% 
decrease compared to the year ended 31 December 2008). 
 

3.1.2. Cost of Sales 
Cost of sales comprise costs of purchasing copper, zinc, other metals and other parts 
(components made of plastic rubber and finished goods such as showerheads), labor 
costs (including salaries, wages and benefits) for personnel employed in production, 
depreciation of fixed assets used for production purposes, trading goods and others 
(mainly public utilities, maintenance costs and amortization of land use rights for land 
being used for production).  
 
The following table shows a breakdown of costs of sales for the periods under review 
and as a percentage of total cost of sales for each category: 

 
 
1 Including certain semi-finished copper based products sourced from external manufacturers. In 2009, certain 

amount of brass purchase was also included. 
2 Comprises product components made of plastic rubber and shower heads. 
3 Includes mainly costs for public utilities, maintenance costs and amortization of land use rights for land being 

used for production. 
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Cost of sales increased from kEUR 99,738 in the year ended 31 December 2008 by 
kEUR 25,726 or 26%, to kEUR 125,464 in the year ended 31 December 2009. The 
increase in cost of sales in the year ended 31 December 2009 resulted mainly from 
an increase in the cost for the purchase of outsourced products by kEUR 16,345 
which was primarily the result of Joyou's broadening of its product portfolio, in par-
ticular relating to accessories, ceramic sanitary ware, bathroom cabinets and certain 
faucets for which the production was outsourced to external manufacturers. 
 

3.1.3. Gross Margin 
For the year ended 31 December 2009 the gross margin increased to 27%, com-
pared to 26% for the year ended 31 December 2008. 
 

3.1.4. Selling and distribution expenses 
Selling and distribution expenses comprise advertising costs, costs for the transporta-
tion of products, port fees, exhibition expenses (expenses incurred in connection with 
the participation at trade fairs), provisions for future obligations/bonus payments to 
distributors, travel expenses and labor costs for employees engaged in the sales and 
marketing department.  
 
Selling and distribution expenses increased significantly from kEUR 5,056 in the year 
ended 31 December 2008 by EUR 1,168 thousand, or 23%, to kEUR 6,224 in the 
year ended 31 December 2009. This increase resulted primarily from the growth of 
Joyou’s operations, mainly its increased retail distribution network. Compared to 
2008, selling and distribution expenses decreased from 4% to 3 % of sales revenues. 
 

3.1.5. Administrative expenses 
Administrative expenses comprise, among others, salaries of management and other 
employees with administrative functions (including social insurance payments starting 
in 2008), travel expenses and allowances for bad debt.  
 
Administrative expenses decreased from kEUR 5,246 in the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2008 by kEUR 3,111, or 59%, to kEUR 2,135 in the year ended 31 December 
2009. The decrease in administrative expenses is principally attributable to move-
ments in the allowance for bad debts, as this expense category includes a charge in 
the amount of kEUR 1,853 in respect of the increase in the bad debts allowance for 
the year ended 31 December 2008. This allowance was partially reversed in the year 
ended 31 December 2009, giving rise to a credit of kEUR 917 which was also re-
ported under administrative expenses. 
 

3.1.6. Other operating income and expenses 
 
Other operating income decreased from kEUR 11,001 in the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2008 by EUR 10,501 thousand, or 95%, to kEUR 500 in the year ended 31 De-
cember 2009. Correspondingly, other operating expenses decreased by 
kEUR 10,920 to kEUR 50. These variances primarily resulted from the fact that 
Joyou generated other operating income in 2008 by selling raw materials to third par-
ties but did not do so in 2009. With cost of raw materials sold disclosed in other oper-
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ating expenses in the year 2008, the change in other operating expenses is also 
caused by these transactions limited to 2008. 
 

3.1.7. Finance result 
Finance result comprises of finance income less finance expenses. Finance income 
comprises interest income on bank deposits and foreign exchange gains resulting 
mainly from the effects of fluctuations in the USD/RMB exchange rate on Joyou's 
USD denominated purchase obligations under supply agreements for copper. Bank 
deposits are used as collateral for banks that issue letters of credit for Joyou. Finance 
costs comprise interest expenses on preferred shares, shareholder loans, bank loans 
and bank charges on notes receivables provided by customers to Joyou. 
 
Finance income decreased from kEUR 1,502 in the year ended 31 December 2008 
by kEUR 1,048, or 70%, to kEUR 454 in the year ended 31 December 2009. This 
decrease resulted primarily from a decrease in foreign exchange gains from raw ma-
terial purchase contracts denominated in USD, as most of the raw materials pur-
chased in 2009 were denominated in RMB. Only 5% of Joyou's total raw materials 
purchased in 2009 were incurred in USD, as compared to 49% for the year 2008. 
Finance costs increased from kEUR 4,527 in the year ended 31 December 2008 by 
kEUR 4,235, or 94%, to kEUR 8,762 in the year ended 31 December 2009. This in-
crease resulted primarily from the accounting treatment of the preferred shares is-
sued by Joyou Hong Kong as a financial liability as described more details in section 
3.3.4 of this group management report. 
 

3.1.8. Taxes on profit 
Taxes on profit increased from kEUR 5,878 in the year ended 31 December 2008 by 
kEUR 2,506, or 43%, to kEUR 8,384 in the year ended 31 December 2009. Joyou's 
effective income tax rate was 27% in the year ended 31 December 2008 as well as in 
the year ended 31 December 2009. 
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3.2. Financial position 
 

 
 
Net cash generated from operating activities decreased from kEUR 6,625 in the year 
ended 31 December 2008 by kEUR 26,872, or 306%, to kEUR -20,247 in the year 
ended 31 December 2009. The decrease was mainly attributable to a significant in-
crease in working capital as well as payments of taxes on profits. This was offset, in 
part, by an increase in profit before tax. 
Cash flow used in investing activities decreased from kEUR 12,513 in the year ended 
31 December 2008 by kEUR 3,214, or 26%, to kEUR 9,299 in the year ended 
31 December 2009. This decrease is principally due to the purchase of land use 
rights in the prior year for the intended construction of a production facility. 
 
Finally, cash flow from financing activities increased from kEUR 8,735 in the year 
ended 31 December 2008 by kEUR 61,747, or 707%, to kEUR 53,012 in the year 
ended 31 December 2009. This increase mainly resulted from the issue of preferred 
shares as described more details in section 3.3.4 of this group management report. 
 
Joyou is required to deposit cash with certain banks to serve as collateral, mainly for 
letters of credit and notes payable, and therefore may not be used in the ordinary 
course of business of these companies; so-called "Restricted cash". Restricted cash 
as at 31 December 2008 and 2009 was kEUR 11,419 and kEUR 22,009 respectively. 
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3.3. Net assets 
The asset and capital structure developed as follows: The balance sheet total in-
creased from kEUR 140,835 by kEUR 45,123 to kEUR 185,958. This rise is princi-
pally attributable to an increase in other receivables and prepayments as well as 
cash and cash equivalents financed by the issue of preference shares, the profit for 
the year and an increase in short term payables. 
 

 
 

3.3.1. Non-current assets 
Intangible assets comprise almost exclusively land use rights. Intangible assets 
amounted to kEUR 19,758 as at 31 December 2008, and kEUR 22,605 as at 
31 December 2009. Intangible assets increased to kEUR 22,605 thousand as at 
31 December 2009 mainly as a result of additional prepayments for the acquisition of 
further land use rights. 
 
Property, plant and equipment mainly comprise buildings, machinery and construc-
tion in progress. Property, plant and equipment increased by kEUR 1,573 to 
kEUR 40,117 as at 31 December 2009. This increase is attributable to construction 
costs and the purchase of machinery in respect of a new production facility, which 
have been offset, in part, by the depreciation charge for the year. 
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Deferred tax assets are temporary differences between IFRS and local tax values 
resulting from differences in the treatment of bad debt provisions and the fact that 
certain accrued expenses are not deductible for the purpose of determining taxable 
profits. Deferred tax assets increased by kEUR 428, or 44%, to kEUR 1,404 as at 
31 December 2009. This increase resulted primarily from the recognition of increased 
bad debt provisions and accrued expenses under IFRS. 

 

3.3.2. Current Assets 
Inventories comprise raw materials and consumables, work in progress and finished 
goods. They decreased from kEUR 24,772 as at 31 December 2008 by kEUR 2,094, 
or 8%, to kEUR 22,678 as at 31 December 2009. This decrease in inventories re-
sulted mainly from decreases in work in progress and finished goods as at balance 
sheet date, offset in part by an increase in raw materials and consumables. 
 
Trade receivables increased by kEUR 5,533 thousand, or 15%, to kEUR 41,348 as at 
31 December 2009. This significant increase was mainly due to increased sales as a 
result of Joyou selling more products through its distribution network in China.  
 
Other receivables and prepayments comprise mainly short-term loans to other non-
related companies, advances to suppliers and prepaid expenses. The increase from 
kEUR 7,720 as at 31 December 2008 by kEUR 15,217, or 197%, to kEUR 22,937 as 
at 31 December 2009 was mainly due to an increase of kEUR 12,728 in advances to 
suppliers.  
 
Amounts due from related parties decreased by kEUR 911, or 61%, to kEUR 77 as at 
31 December 2009. This decrease resulted primarily from the settlement of loans 
granted to Fujian Nan'an Pengxin Copper Co. Ltd. in connection with the restructur-
ing of the land and factory properties and the acquisition of land use rights for the 
new factory Luncang. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents mainly comprise bank deposits, cash on hand as well as 
security deposits for letters of credit, notes payable, bank loans and bank notes. A 
more detailed discussion of the development of cash and cash equivalents can be 
found in section 3.3.4 of this group management report. 
 

3.3.3. Equity 
Equity increased from kEUR 45,003 as at 31 December 2008 to kEUR 65,854 as at 
31 December 2009 mainly due to a significant increase in retained earnings. This 
increase was partly offset by a decrease in the currency translation reserve as a re-
sult of RMB/EUR currency translation effects. 
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3.3.4. Non-current liabilities 
In 2009, Joyou issued via Joyou Hong Kong in a series of financing transactions pre-
ferred shares with a book value as at balance sheet date of kEUR 42,474.  
On 8 June 2009, Joyou Hong Kong executed a capital increase issuing new ordinary 
shares as well as a new series of preferred shares (the "Series A Preferred 
Shares"). The share capital of Joyou Hong Kong was increased by HKD 9,900.00 to 
HKD 10,000.00. Of the new total shares, shares representing a nominal amount of 
HKD 8,421 were allotted to Joyou AG and preferred shares representing a nominal 
amount of HKD 1,479 to two investors who had refinanced shareholder loans. Con-
sequently, the voting rights of Joyou AG in Joyou Hong Kong were reduced to 
85.21%. As agreed upon between all parties, the amounts due from the investors and 
the amounts due from Joyou to shareholders were settled by setting off the respec-
tive liabilities.  
On 25 May 2009, Joyou Hong Kong had entered into a senior guaranteed and se-
cured loan agreement with Bathware Limited, Virgin Islands, for USD 10,000 thou-
sand. The parties agreed that this loan would be converted into preferred shares in 
Joyou Hong Kong with terms and conditions equal to those of the Series A Preferred 
Shares. On 16 October 2009 said loan was converted into preferred shares as part of 
a further capital increase of Joyou Hong Kong. Finance costs incurred between 
25 May and 16 October 2009 for accruing interest was compensated by finance in-
come in the same amount as the right to receive interest was lost with said conver-
sion into Preferred Shares. 
Finally, on 16 October 2009 Joyou Hong Kong executed a further capital increase 
issuing a new series of preferred shares (the "Series B Preferred Shares") to two 
companies, Bathware Limited and Grohe Holding GmbH. As part of this capital in-
crease, the aforementioned senior guaranteed and secured loan was converted into 
preferred shares. The share capital of Joyou Hong Kong was increased to 
HKD 144,580. The Series A Preferred Shares and the Series B Preferred Shares 
qualify as a compound financial instrument with split accounting to be applied. Due to 
the terms and conditions of the financial liability component of the Series B Preferred 
Shares, the fair value of their conversion right and therefore the equity component 
was nil. The initial fair value of the financial liability component was subsequently re-
corded as a liability on an amortized cost basis until extinguished on conversion into 
ordinary shares or redemption of the preferred shares. Due to the amendment of the 
rights of the shareholders of Series A Preferred Shares the fair value of the financial 
liability component was to be adjusted. Dividends on all preferred shares are recog-
nized in the statement of comprehensive income as interest expense.  
 
Other provisions include provisions for the future cost of decommissioning plants on 
a discounted basis on the construction of those plants. The provision for the cost of 
decommissioning these production facilities at the end of the useful live of the land-
use-rights on which the plants have been erected has been estimated using existing 
technology in China. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are mainly related to capitalized IPO cost to be deducted from 
new equity gained from the intended issue of new shares as part of Joyou’s expected 
IPO in Germany in 2010. 
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3.3.5. Current liabilities 
Short-term loans comprise primarily unsecured bank loans and, to a lesser extent, 
secured bank loans. They increased significantly from kEUR 31,097 as at 31 De-
cember 2008 by kEUR 21,419 to kEUR 52,516 as at 31 December 2009. This in-
crease is mainly related to financing requirements caused by the increase in Joyou’s 
working capital. This increase in working capital was caused, as described, by the 
increase in other receivables and prepayments, but also by the significant decrease 
in trade payables which decreased by kEUR 19,247 to kEUR 968 as at 31 December 
2009. Trade payables comprise amounts payable to customers for the purchase of 
raw materials and products. The decrease resulted primarily from Joyou's payment of 
a number of its outstanding obligations for the purchase of raw materials (in particular 
for certain suppliers of copper) and products as a result of the improved liquidity of 
Joyou. 
 
Notes payable arise from the issuance of notes payable to suppliers. The decreased 
slightly from kEUR 21,588 as at 31 December 2008 by kEUR 2,421 to kEUR 19,167 
as at 31 December 2009. This decrease resulted primarily from the settlement of out-
standing notes payable as at 31 December 2009. 
 
Other payables and accruals mainly comprise advance payments received from cus-
tomers, accrued payroll, VAT, accrued expenses and other tax payables (including 
business tax, stamp tax and real estate transfer tax). The decreased by kEUR 4,945, 
or 64%, to kEUR 2,744 as at 31 December 2009 results primarily from the reduction 
in the amount of value added tax due at the year end 
 
Amounts due to related parties include short-term loans granted by related parties to 
Joyou and are therefore non-trade liabilities. Amounts due to related parties de-
creased from kEUR 7,845 as at 31 December 2008 to kEUR 13 as at 31 December 
2009. The reason behind the marked reduction in this item is the conversion of the 
shareholder loan provided to preferred shares as described more details in section 
3.3.4 of this group management report.. 
 

3.4. Segmental Reporting 
The following table presents Joyou's revenues broken down by product categories for 
each of the two years ended 31 December 2008 and 2009. The table also presents 
each item as a percentage of total revenues. 
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Bathroom faucets 
All of the revenues for the periods under review were generated from the sale of ba-
sin faucets, bathtub faucets and bidet faucets which were manufactured by Joyou, 
except for limited sales of bathroom faucets during the last quarter of 2008 and for 
2009, the production of which was outsourced to external manufacturers, each as 
described below. 
Revenues from the sale of bathroom faucets increased from kEUR 39,715 in 2008 by 
kEUR 43,165, or 109%, to kEUR 82,880 in 2009. Measured in RMB, revenues from 
the sale of bathroom faucets increased by 94% during this period. This increase was 
mainly attributable to an increase in the number of basin faucets (own manufactured) 
from 2,300 thousand in 2008 to 3,008 thousand in 2009 and an increase in the num-
ber of bathtub faucets from 665 thousand in 2008 to 1,026 thousand in 2009. The 
increase in revenues from the sale of bathroom faucets resulted also from an in-
crease in the average sales price per unit from RMB 114 to RMB 168 (EUR 11 to 
EUR 18) for basin faucets, from RMB 183 to RMB 215 (EUR 18 to EUR 23) for bath-
tub faucets and from RMB 148 to RMB 186 (EUR 14 to EUR 20) for bidet faucets. 
This increase in the average sales price per unit was due to an increase in sales of 
higher priced products, which was partly offset by higher discounts in the first quarter 
of 2009 provided to customers as a result of the decrease in copper prices. The in-
crease was also attributed to higher brand recognition and market acceptance of 
Joyou's products. In addition, in 2009 Joyou sold 153 thousand basin faucets (as 
compared to 38 thousand basin faucets in 2008) and 8 thousand bathtub faucets (as 
compared to 14 thousand bathtub faucets in 2008) for which the production was out-
sourced to external manufacturers. The percentage of revenues from bathroom fau-
cets to total revenues increased from 29% in 2008 to 48% in 2009. 
 
Kitchen products 
Kitchen products include kitchen faucets, basin faucets and kitchen basins. All fau-
cets within this product category were manufactured by Joyou, except for limited 
sales of faucets during the last quarter of 2008 and for 2009, the production of which 
was outsourced to external manufacturers, each as described below.  
Revenues from the sale of kitchen products increased from kEUR 17,316 in 2008 by 
kEUR 9,401, or 54%, to kEUR 26,717 in 2009. Measured in RMB, revenues from the 
sale of kitchen products increased by 44% during this period. This increase in reve-
nues from the sale of kitchen products mainly resulted from an increase in the aver-
age sales price per kitchen faucet (own manufactured) during the period from RMB 
83 to RMB 150 (EUR 8 to EUR 16) and by an increase in the quantities of basin fau-
cets sold from 8 thousand basin faucets to 364 thousand basin faucets during this 
period. This increase was partly offset by a decrease in the quantities of kitchen fau-
cets (own manufactured) sold from 2,021 thousand in 2008 to 884 thousand kitchen 
faucets in 2009 and a decrease in the average sales price per basin faucet from RMB 
395 to RMB 206 (EUR 39 to EUR 22) in 2009. In addition, in 2009 Joyou sold 54 
thousand kitchen faucets (as compared to 25 thousand kitchen faucets in 2008) and 
45 thousand basin faucets (as compared to 0 thousand basin faucets in 2008) as well 
as 57 thousand kitchen basins (as compared to 1 thousand kitchen basins in 2008) 
during this period for which the production was outsourced to external manufacturers. 
The percentage of revenues from kitchen products to total revenues increased from 
13% in 2008 to 16% in 2009. 
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Shower products 
Shower products mainly comprise shower faucets and handheld showerheads. All 
faucets within this product category were manufactured by Joyou, except for limited 
sales of shower faucets during the last quarter of 2008 and for 2009, the production 
of which was outsourced to external manufacturers, each as described below.  
Revenues from the sale of shower products increased from kEUR 10,518 in 2008 by 
kEUR 11,218, or 107%, to kEUR 21,736 in 2009. Measured in RMB, revenues from 
the sale of shower products increased by 93% during this period. This increase in 
revenues resulted from an increase in the number of shower faucets (own manufac-
tured) sold from 605 thousand in 2008 to 815 thousand in 2009, an increase in the 
average sales price per shower faucet (own manufactured) from RMB 169 to RMB 
200 (EUR 17 to EUR 21) during this period and the sale of 1146 thousand shower 
faucets in 2009 (compared to 16 thousand shower faucets in 2008) for which the 
production was outsourced to external manufacturers. This effect was offset by a de-
crease in the number of handheld showerheads sold from 141 thousand in 2008 to 
75 thousand in 2009, whereas the average sales price per handheld showerhead 
increased from RMB 17 to RMB 84 (EUR 2 to EUR 9) during this period. The per-
centage of revenues from shower products to total revenues increased from 8% in 
the first ten months of 2008 to 13% in the first ten months of 2009. 
 
Other bathroom products and accessories 
Other bathroom products and accessories mainly comprise ceramic sanitary ware, 
bathtubs, bathroom cabinets and bathroom accessories 
Revenues from the sale of other bathroom products and accessories increased from 
kEUR 3,162 in 2008 by kEUR 11,506 or 364%, to kEUR 14,668 in 2009. Measured in 
RMB, revenues from the sale of other bathroom products increased by 332% during 
the period. This increase resulted mainly from an increase in the number of other 
bathroom products sold from 268 thousand in 2008 to 1,134 thousand in 2009 pri-
marily as a result of expanding the product range. The percentage of revenues from 
other bathroom products to total revenues increased from 2% in 2008 to 9% in 2009.  
 
Other faucets and sanitary hardware 
Other faucets and sanitary hardware comprises washing machine faucets, valves 
and unpolished products.  
Revenues from the sale of other faucets and sanitary hardware decreased from 
kEUR 33,967 in 2008 by kEUR 14,614, or 43%, to kEUR 19,353 in 2009. Measured 
in RMB, revenues from the sale of other faucets and sanitary hardware decreased by 
47% during this period. This decrease resulted mainly from a decrease in the number 
of washing machine faucets sold, unpolished products sold and valves sold and a 
decrease in the average sales price per valve. The quantities of washing machine 
faucets sold decreased from 4,765 thousand to 2,906 thousand during this period, 
the number of unpolished products sold decreased from 3,610 thousand to 2,464 
thousand during this period and the number of valves sold decreased from 4,812 
thousand to 1,513 thousand during this period. The average sales price per valve 
also decreased during this period from RMB 31 to RMB 20 (EUR 3 to EUR 2). The 
average sales price per unpolished product decreased during this period from RMB 
15 to RMB 13 (EUR 1 to EUR 1). These effects were partly offset by an increase in 
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the average sales price during the period of washing machine faucets from RMB 30 
to RMB 42 (EUR 3 to EUR 4). The percentage of revenues from other faucets and 
sanitary hardware to total revenues decreased from 25% in 2008 to 11% in 2009.  
 
Components and copper semi-finished products 
Components and copper semi-finished products comprise inner and outer parts of 
faucets, other brass-made semi-finished products, brass ingots and brass rods.  
Revenues from the sale of components and semi-finished products decreased from 
kEUR 30,367 in 2008 by kEUR 23,394, or 77%, to kEUR 6,973 in 2009. Measured in 
RMB, revenues from the sale of components and semi-finished products decreased 
by 79% during this period. This decrease resulted mainly from a decrease in the 
number of faucet components and brass rods sold, reflecting the increased capacity 
of galvanization as the result of the completion of the new galvanization plant in Au-
gust 2008, enabling Joyou to increase its focus on selling finished (instead of semi-
finished) products in the domestic market. The percentage of revenues from other 
components and semi-finished products to total revenues decreased from 22% in 
2008 to 4% in 2009. 
 
OEM/ODM sales, own brand sales and component sales 
The following table presents Joyou's revenues broken down by OEM/ODM sales, 
own brand sales and component sales for each of the two years ended 31 December 
2008 and 2009. The table also presents each item as a percentage of total revenues.  

 
 
The shift in revenue from OEM/ODM sales to own brand sales can be attributed to 
Joyou's strategy to shift its focus from that of an OEM/ODM manufacturer for interna-
tional customers and trading companies to a single brand manufacturer with a strong 
emphasis on the Chinese market. Components sales accounted for 18% in 2008 and 
6% in 2009 as a percentage of total revenues. One main reason for this decrease 
was that Joyou completed the new galvanization plant in June 2008 which enabled it 
to increase the production capacity for its higher margin own brand products. 
 
Geographic split  
The following table presents Joyou's revenues broken down by domestic, i.e. sales to 
PRC customers, or export sales for each of the two years ended 31 December 2008 
and 2009. The table also presents each item as a percentage of total revenues. "Ex-
port indirectly" means sales to customers located within the PRC where Joyou be-
lieves such customers to finally export these products to overseas customers, 
whereas "export directly" means that such products are sold to customers located 
outside of the PRC.  
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This shift in revenue from export sales to domestic sales within the periods under re-
view as illustrated in the table above is the result of Joyou's new strategy imple-
mented in 2007 to shift its focus from that of an OEM/ODM manufacturer for interna-
tional customers and trading companies to a single brand manufacturer with a strong 
emphasis on the Chinese market. 
 
Further information on segmentation by business area and geographical region is 
given in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2009. 
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4. Corporate Situation 

4.1. Share capital 
The registered share capital of Joyou AG amounts to EUR 10,000,000 and is divided 
into 10,000,000 non-par value ordinary bearer shares with proportionate value of 
EUR 1.00 each. The share capital has been fully paid in by contribution in kind. Each 
share carries one vote at the company's general shareholders' meeting. There are no 
restrictions on voting rights. The shares carry full dividend entitlement for the short 
financial year 2008 and all subsequent financial years. In the event that the company 
is dissolved, the company's assets remaining after settlement of its liabilities will be 
distributed among the shareholders in proportion of their share of the share capital. 
 

4.2. Corporate Governance 
The Company has not intentionally complied with the recommendations and sugges-
tions contained in the German Corporate Governance Codex (GCGC) yet because it 
has so far not been listed on any stock exchange and therefore the GCGC did not 
apply to the Company.  
 
After the Offering and admission to trading of the company's shares on the regulated 
market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, Joyou AG will annually issue and publish a 
declaration in compliance with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act, and 
to make it continuously available on its website. The Management Board and Super-
visory Board of Joyou AG identify with the goals of the GCGC to foster responsible 
and transparent corporate management and control, oriented to a sustained increase 
in company value. Therefore, Management Board and Supervisory Board will be 
largely following the recommendations and suggestions of the GCGC. Details will be 
agreed upon between the Management Board and the Supervisory Board shortly. 
 

4.3. Research and Development 
 
Our research and development is built on a system of inter-departmental coordination 
and participation. Joyou considers research and development as well as product de-
sign to be of key importance for its success.  
 
We are currently performing research on sensory techniques for faucets and other 
flushing valves that may be used in toilets, the improvement of constant temperature 
functions, such as thermostat techniques, and the improvement of water-saving func-
tions of flushing valves. Furthermore, we are also focusing our research on the pro-
duction of lead-free faucets. Our R&D activities also include enhancing the standardi-
zation of product components in order to make our production processes more effi-
cient.  
 
As national and international regulatory bodies impose increasingly strict environ-
mental standards on the production of sanitary ware products, we place strong em-
phasis on the production of more environmentally friendly products, including water 
conservation measures, production methods, as well as the components used for its 
products. We have long worked to improve water conservation measures, such as 
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the prevention of leakage in its valves and toilet flushes enabling the user to control 
the amount of flushing water.  
 
We design all faucets and showerheads that we sell under our own brand. With re-
spect to ceramic sanitary ware, the products are designed by third party design 
houses but only after our approval commissioned to manufacturers. It usually takes 
us between 70 to 90 days from the initial concept for a new product to commence 
serial production. Initial small-scale production usually begins about 45-60 days after 
the first proposal of an idea for a new product, and approximately another 30 days 
are required before the product is ready for the market. We believe this to be quicker 
than our peer group, and is part of our strategic competences. 
 
Our market research center is part of our R&D department and continuously monitors 
the domestic and international sanitary ware markets to evaluate new trends and 
customer demands and uses this information to design new products. In particular, 
we believe that European and United States market trends and consumer prefer-
ences for new designs and functionalities will eventually be adapted for the Chinese 
market as well. Members of our design department and market research center at-
tend international trade fairs, and travel to western countries in order to familiarize 
themselves with new western-style design trends and technological developments.  
 
The goal of this system is to keep closer track on the amount of sales for Joyou's 
products in order to plan production and stock levels accordingly and to gain a closer 
understanding of consumer preferences to develop more consumer-targeted prod-
ucts.  
 

4.4. Procurement and Supply 
Joyou purchases raw materials, components, as well as finished products. Joyou 
generally avoids relying on single source suppliers for specific raw materials or other 
products.  
 

4.4.1. Supply of raw materials  
For the periods under review, more than two thirds of the cost of sales consisted of 
costs for raw materials. We purchase copper, zinc, aluminum, lead, bismuth, and 
other raw materials and chemicals in order to produce our faucets. We currently pro-
cure these raw materials based on supply agreements with various suppliers. These 
agreements have terms of one year and are automatically renewed unless termi-
nated. As there is a sufficient number of suppliers for raw materials in the Chinese 
market we are not dependent on a single supplier. 
 

4.4.2. Supply of finished products and product components 
In addition to raw materials to produce our own products, we currently source various 
finished products and components for products which we sell under our own brand. 
Finished products that are procured by us include ceramic sanitary ware products, 
showerheads, cabinets for bathroom and kitchen, as well as stainless steel basins 
used for kitchen sinks, and bathtubs. Joyou sources these finished products from 
various suppliers and does not depend on any single supplier.  
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Third-party producers manufacture these products according to our quality and de-
sign specifications. We also source simple components for our products made of 
brass, such as copper pipes, plastic valves, rubber sealing rings, and filters for fau-
cets. These simple components have a lower product margin and we do not consider 
it to be economical to produce them in-house.  
 

4.5. Production 

4.5.1. Production 
Joyou currently manufactures faucets, valves and other bathroom accessories made 
of brass. Other finished products sold by Joyou such as shower sets, showerheads, 
ceramic sanitary ware, bathroom cabinets and copper pipes used for bathroom ac-
cessories are sourced from a number of third-party producers that manufacture the 
finished products or components according to our design specifications. 
 
For its own brand business, Joyou produces based on demand estimates forecasted 
by its market research center. The marketing center forecasts market demand on a 
monthly basis, primarily using information derived from recent sales numbers for our 
products collected from regional distributors. 
 
Joyou attaches great importance to maintaining production equipment and technolo-
gies at current European standards. By cooperating with international sanitary ware 
manufacturers through its long-term function as an OEM/ODM manufacturer and by 
exchanging technologies with these manufacturers, Joyou has accumulated substan-
tial knowledge about advanced production techniques and technologies used in the 
production of sanitary hardware products and faucets. Joyou also employs modern 
machinery that it has mainly imported from Europe, such as its low-pressure casting 
equipment, polishing robots and semi-automatic galvanization lines. 
 

4.5.2. Production facilities and equipment 
Joyou operates two factories in Nan'an. One factory was established in 1991 and 
covers 30,000 square meters of land and 25,000 of square meters of production 
area. This factory is currently used only as a warehouse and as a polishing line.  
 
The second factory is situated in the Luncang area of the city of Nan'an, approxi-
mately four kilometers away from the old factory. This factory was established in 
three phases, the first of which comprised new production lines for faucets which 
commenced production in March 2007. The second phase included assembly lines 
for semi-finished products as well as galvanization lines and was partly put into op-
eration in September 2007. The new galvanization lines at Joyou's new factory com-
menced production in July 2008. The third phase of production will consist of produc-
tion lines for plastic showerheads and is still under construction. The entire land plot 
of the new factory comprises over 200,000 square meters. We intend to use part of 
the proceeds from our private placement of preferred shares in Joyou Hong Kong to 
finalize its production lines for showerheads. We estimate that completion will occur 
in the second half of 2010.  
 
With the commencement of production at Joyou's second factory, we believe that we 
are one of the faucet manufacturers in China with the highest production capacity 
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based on our own estimates. Joyou believes that this will allow it to respond to grow-
ing market demand for sanitary ware products and also enable it to tender offers for 
large scale construction projects. 
 

4.6. Distribution 

4.6.1. Own brand products 
Joyou sells its own brand products through a retail distribution network that it has es-
tablished since mid-2007 in China. Our retail distribution network consists of stores 
operated by unaffiliated shop owners who have been engaged by regional distribu-
tors that we have chosen for specific regions of China, or by the regional distributors 
themselves. We only have contractual relationships with the regional distributors 
based on standardized distribution agreements. Except for their obligations contained 
in the distribution agreements, the regional distributors are independent of Joyou 
and, therefore, unaffiliated. Depending on their size we divide the retail points of sale 
into the following categories:  
 
Flagship stores: With a sales area of typically more than 200 square meters, flag-
ship stores are our largest retail points of sale. Flagship stores mainly serve repre-
sentative purposes and are opened in tier one cities, which are the major cities and 
capital cities of the Chinese provinces. Flagship stores target customers involved in 
large construction projects such as contractors for new hotels or other buildings of 
public use, as well as retail customers. In addition to serving as large retail outlets for 
our products with a broad product offering, flagship stores also serve as a primary 
means of establishing our brand reputation as a high-quality producer of modern sa-
nitary ware products.  
 
Exclusive stores: Exclusive stores are typically between 80 square meters and 200 
square meters in size. Exclusive stores are targeted at the same customer groups as 
Flagship Stores, however, with a stronger focus on retail customers and less focus 
on customers from the construction industry. 
 
Authorized stores: Authorized stores are usually dedicated sales areas only for our 
products within shopping centers focusing on sanitary ware. Their sales area is typi-
cally less than 80 square meters in size. The shopping centers in which authorized 
stores are located sell our products and display our brand symbols in specific sales 
areas, but also sell the products of other manufacturers. Although they offer the en-
tire range of our products from its catalogue, only a limited selection of our products 
is displayed. 
 
Our regional distributors collect our products from our factories and usually store the 
products at their own warehouses. The products are transported to the retail points of 
sale from these warehouses by the regional distributors who are also responsible for 
all matters related to shipping and logistics. 
We place a strong emphasis on having unified interior and exterior decorations at its 
retail points of sale in order to improve consumer recognition of Joyou's brand and 
products. To this end we may pay a discretionary subsidy to our regional distributors 
in the form of reimbursements for investments made for the decoration of shops in 
the previous year. 
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To improve communication and interaction with these distributors, we organize an-
nual meetings of our regional distributors and their retailers in order to provide retail 
distributors with information on new products and to discuss ways to further improve 
the marketing of our products. The 2010 annual meeting, which was held in January 
2010 in Quanzhou, was visited by nearly 2,000 regional distributors and retailers. 
 
Joyou also conducts regular training courses for sales staff and installation techni-
cians of their regional distributors and provides updates on our products to distribu-
tors, sales staff and installers of sanitary ware products whom it considers to be im-
portant intermediaries in the retail chain for sanitary ware products. 
 
As at 31 December 2009, our retail distribution network included 43 regional distribu-
tors, covering most of the main business regions of China and consisted of 48 Flag-
ship stores, 1,044 Exclusive stores and 1,435 Authorized stores.  
 

4.6.2. Distribution of OEM/ODM products 
OEM stands for Original Equipment Manufacturing and refers to made-to-order prod-
ucts, which means products that are manufactured according to the design and spe-
cifications of the customer. ODM stands for Original Design Manufacturing and refers 
to a situation in which the seller offers finished products to customers who sell these 
products to customers who sell these products under their own or a third party’s 
brand.  
 
Our OEM/ODM sales are almost exclusively made to international markets. We sell 
sanitary ware products through our OEM/ODM business directly to international 
companies, international wholesalers or trading companies who resell the products to 
international brands or other customers such as retail chains. In some cases, we also 
produce OEM/ODM products for domestic sanitary ware manufacturers, which sell 
these products to international brands.  
 
For the promotion of its OEM business, we actively contact international companies 
which sell our products under their own brand. We visit large exhibitions in order to 
establish and maintain business contacts. We maintain long-standing relationships 
with customers from various developed countries, including the United States, the 
United Kingdom, France, Germany, Italy and Australia. 
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4.7. Employees 
During the year, Joyou had an average of 1,684 employees (prior year: 2,608 em-
ployees).  
 
The decrease of employees in our management and administration departments was 
caused by the move of all production lines to the factory in Luncang, which was com-
pleted in 2009. This consolidation of a number of manufacturing processes led to a 
decrease in demand for lower level management staff in 2009.  
 
The decrease of employees in our sales and marketing department is attributable to 
the further development of our retail distribution network via unaffiliated regional dis-
tributors. As more sales marketing activities are now being organized by the regional 
distributors instead of Joyou, the number of our employees in the sales and market-
ing departments slightly decreased.  
 
Finally, the decrease in the number of trainees is due to the fact that in 2009 we of-
fered full-time employment contracts to many of our trainees of 2008. This decreased 
of our demand for trainee workers, whereas the overall number of employees, includ-
ing trainees, was kept at an approximately stable level. 
 
 

5. Opportunities and Risk Report 
 
To date, Joyou Group has not established a comprehensive risk management sys-
tem yet. Due to the rapid growth that the Group has experienced in recent years, it is 
aware of the need to implement such a system but will start its implementation in the 
middle of 2010 at the latest. 
 

5.1. Economic development in China 
 
We believe that the Chinese sanitary ware industry in general and Joyou in particular 
are in a favorable position to provide for reasonable growth rates in the future as we 
consider the following factors as key drivers to our success: The growth of an urban-
professional middle class in rapidly urbanizing areas will trigger strong demand for 
sanitary ware. Increasing living standards supported by further growth in China’s 
GDP will lead to changing consumer patterns resulting in expanded bathroom space 
and increase in the demand for products with higher design standards and more ad-
vanced features. Beside those effects on the consumer market, newly constructed 
public utilities will be equipped with corresponding sanitary ware products. Increasing 
renovation activities triggered by the aging of the buildings as well as changes in aes-
thetic and quality preferences will also support further growth in the Chinese sanitary 
ware industry and Joyou.  
 

5.2. Brand development and domestic distribution network 
In 2007 Joyou changed its strategy to focus on the sale of its own brand sanitary 
ware products in the Chinese market. We believe that the development of the Joyou 
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brand will be one of the key competitive criteria for our further expansion in China 
and therefore intend to make substantial marketing investments to promote and in-
crease awareness of our brand in the Chinese market and to position ourselves as a 
producer of high quality and design sanitary ware. However, as we are still in the 
process of establishing our own brand in the Chinese market, and we are thus par-
ticularly vulnerable to external events and factors which could adversely affect our 
reputation with Chinese consumers, there can be no assurance that we will be suc-
cessful in establishing the “Joyou” brand as a brand recognized for high-quality sani-
tary ware products in the Chinese market. Any failure to maintain and develop our 
own brand could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. At the same time, when achieving the intended brand repu-
tation, we expect our “Joyou” brand to be one of the key factors to our success which 
will enable Joyou to accomplish its goals with respect to our business, financial con-
dition and results of operations. 
 
Our distribution network consists of retail points of sale managed or controlled by re-
gional distributors which have been granted exclusive rights to sell “Joyou” branded 
products in specific regions of China under distribution agreements that Joyou has 
entered into with these distributors. As we do not have direct control over the man-
agement of these retail points of sale we depend on the cooperation of our distribu-
tors. Such distribution agreements could adversely affect our business if such retail 
points of sale selling the “Joyou” brand products are managed ineffectively or inap-
propriately.  
 
We intend to further substantially increase the total number of our retail points of sale 
in order to cover all major business areas in China, we depend on finding new dis-
tributors which are of good standing and reputation to operate these new retail points 
of sale. There can be no assurance that we will be able to establish as many retail 
points of sale successfully as we intend, or that demand for our products will grow 
sufficiently to justify the opening of these additional retail points of sale from an eco-
nomic perspective. Therefore, the occurrence of any of these risks could have a ma-
terial adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

5.3. Development of products and production capacity 
Joyou intends to expand its production capacity and the scope of its production range 
significantly. For this purpose we intend to build new production facilities for new and 
existing products and acquire manufacturers of sanitary ware products. The construc-
tion of new factories or planned acquisitions may prove more difficult than expected, 
face regulatory constraints and the Company's business projections may prove to be 
inaccurate. Even if the Company builds and/or acquires these new facilities, they may 
prove to be unnecessary if demand for our products declines below expectations. 
 
As a result of our lack of relevant experience in the production of new products, we 
could fail to build or acquire respective production facilities in a timely manner, within 
its budget or at all. In addition, we could be unable to operate the newly built or ac-
quired production facilities efficiently or at all. As a result of the significant invest-
ments in the planned expansion of its production range, our margin for the sale of 
newly produced products may initially be lower compared to the sale of products 
sourced from third-party manufacturers. As we expand our production scope, we will 
also need more raw materials and other supplies, additional qualified employees and 
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additional licenses, permits or other authorizations from local, state or national 
authorities to operate the expanded scope of production. Finding additional employ-
ees, new suppliers of raw materials and obtaining the necessary permits and licenses 
may prove to be difficult, expensive or even impossible.  
 

5.4. Price changes in raw materials 
The profitability of Joyou's business is affected by changes in costs of raw materials, 
in particular changes in the prices of copper and zinc. As copper and zinc are global 
commodities, the purchase prices that Joyou pays for these commodities are strongly 
correlated with the world market price for copper and zinc. World market prices for 
copper and zinc have been volatile for the periods under review. In addition, because 
copper and zinc are mostly traded in US dollars, increases in the prices of these raw 
materials can be exacerbated by increases in the value of the US dollar. However, 
the RMB-denominated prices for copper and zinc are also based on the value of the 
USD as the USD is the most prevalent currency in which copper and zinc are quoted 
on the world market. Since Joyou does not hedge against fluctuations in commodity 
prices or exchange rates, an increase in the US dollar-denominated commodity 
prices against the RMB would increase Joyou's costs incurred in RMB and expressed 
in EUR in its financial statements. 
 
In order to minimize the risks associated with these price changes, Joyou fixes raw 
material prices in supply contracts to avoid the impact of raw material price fluctua-
tions. For products sold abroad, Joyou controls the sales price in line with the current 
price of raw copper and adjusts the sale price if the fluctuation exceeds 5%. The cor-
responding adjustment procedure will be set forth in the contract. Furthermore, Joyou 
diverts raw material risks by increasing product prices and tries to reduce the risk by 
increasing productivity and inventory management in order to increase inventory 
turnover. However, Joyou has not used any hedging arrangements to minimize price 
fluctuations in its raw materials costs so far. But, we will, under necessary circum-
stances, take such measures as hedging and forward transaction to respond to future 
fluctuations. 
 
If and to the extent Joyou is not able to pass increased raw material costs to its cus-
tomers or to agree on certain price increases with its customers and distributors, its 
results of operations will be adversely affected. If the costs of raw materials decrease 
and we do not have to lower the prices of its products accordingly, its results of op-
erations will be positively affected. Any significant change in raw material costs, and 
in particular for the purchase of copper and zinc, will have a direct effect on our re-
sults of operations. 

5.5. Fluctuations in labour cost 
The production of sanitary ware products in China is very labor intensive and almost 
all of our work force is located in China. Average annual salaries of urban employees 
in the PRC increased significantly within the periods under review. This increase is 
also a result of the introduction of new labor law legislation in China that became ef-
fective as of 1 January 2008 and general workforce shortages in China. For example, 
in the first six months of 2009, the average wage per capita of urban employees in 
the PRC increased by approximately 12.9% compared to the first six months of 2008. 
To the extent that Joyou is unable to offset an increase in labor costs with increases 
in revenues, its business and results of operations could be adversely affected. 
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5.6. Environmental, health and safety risks 
The manufacturing of faucets involves the storage of certain materials such as oil and 
lead which may be hazardous. Joyou also carries out galvanization processes which 
involve the discharge of toxic substances such as lead and oils. Gaseous, liquid and 
solid waste such as residual lead is generated at different stages in the production 
process. Waste materials, in particular waste water, are in part recycled, but in part 
also need to be discarded. All of these materials pose health risks and can cause 
environmental damage if they are not disposed of properly. Hazards such as fires, 
explosions, storage tank leaks or ruptures, mechanical failures as well as other 
events outside of its control, are ever-present risks in Joyou's industry and could lead 
to discharges of toxic or hazardous substances into the atmosphere, the ground wa-
ter or the soil. The occurrence of any of these risks may lead to serious personnel 
injury, damage or destruction of Joyou's assets, plant or equipment as well as envi-
ronmental damage which could, in turn, lead to production stoppages, the imposition 
of substantial fines, the revocation of Joyou's business license or other necessary 
authorizations, the imposition of obligations to remediate contaminated sites and 
damage claims from employees or customers.  
 
Joyou has in the past conducted production activities that included galvanization 
processes and handled toxic materials, such as lead and oils, without any regulatory 
supervision or under Chinese environmental regulations which were not adequately 
developed in particular with respect to soil protection. Even though subsoil contami-
nations have not been detected on the land plots used by Joyou to date, the risk of 
subsoil contamination especially at Joyou's old plant in Nan'an is high and Joyou may 
face substantial costs to remedy any subsoil contamination in the future. The legal 
requirements in the PRC relating to environmental protection and health and safety 
have over time become more stringent and are expected to become stricter in the 
future. Joyou may be subject to numerous new laws and regulations relating to, 
among other things, the protection of the environment and natural resources, health 
and safety, the management of hazardous substances and waste, air emissions, wa-
ter discharges and the cleaning up of contaminated soils. In particular, these stan-
dards may require Joyou to clean up any contamination that was caused by produc-
tion at its old factory site in Nan'an in the past. As a result Joyou may face substantial 
costs in the future to remedy any contamination and comply with more stringent laws 
and regulations relating to environmental protection and health and safety. These 
could also lead to temporary or permanent plant closures or may otherwise affect the 
usability or value of Joyou's plants. In addition, any violations of these laws could re-
sult in substantial fines or criminal convictions. 
 

5.7. Insufficient financing capabilities 
In order to finance our growth strategy, we may have to raise additional capital in the 
future through debt or equity offerings. We cannot be certain that suitable financing 
will be available in the required amounts or on acceptable terms. If additional debt is 
incurred, this would result in debt service obligations which could have a negative 
impact on profitability and could expose us to general adverse economic and industry 
conditions. In addition, the terms of any financing agreement could limit our ability to 
pay dividends or restrict our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in 
Joyou’s business or industry. 
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Joyou's subsidiaries in China are also subject to foreign exchange registration and 
approval if they intend to borrow funds from entities outside of China. In addition, 
Joyou's subsidiaries in China need to obtain approval or registration from Chinese 
government agencies if they intend to secure financing through equity contributions. 
In the event that we cannot obtain necessary financing on reasonable terms, or at all, 
we may be forced to scale back our plans for future business expansion. 
 
Finally, Joyou's subsidiaries in China are subject to certain restrictions on the amount 
of foreign debt they can borrow. In utilizing the proceeds of the intended IPO to fi-
nance our business, Joyou AG, as a holding company, or Joyou Hong Kong may 
make loans or additional capital contributions to Joyou Sanitation Technology, the 
PRC subsidiary of the Company which qualifies as a so-called foreign invested en-
terprise ("FIE") under PRC law. Any loans by an offshore parent company to a FIE 
established by it are subject to approvals and/or registration requirements and must 
be within the margin between the FIE's total investment amount and registered capi-
tal. Further, loans to FIEs have to be registered with SAFE or its local counterpart. In 
addition, if the Company or Joyou Hong Kong finances the operating entities of Joyou 
in China through additional capital contributions to Joyou Sanitation Technology, the 
amount of these capital contributions must be approved by and registered with the 
relevant government authorities. If we were to fail to receive such registrations or ap-
provals, the ability to use the proceeds of the IPO and our ability to fund and expand 
the operational business in China could be adversely affected, which could have ma-
terial adverse effects on the business, financial condition and results of operations of 
Joyou. 
 

5.8. Foreign exchange rate fluctuations 
The consolidated financial statements of Joyou AG were prepared in EUR and its 
future consolidated financial statements will be prepared in EUR, while Joyou's func-
tional currency is RMB, which is currently not a freely convertible currency. A de-
valuation of the RMB versus the EUR would therefore have an adverse currency 
translation effect on Joyou AG's consolidated financial statements. As the value of 
the RMB is controlled by PRC authorities, it is also possible that foreign exchange 
policies of the PRC government could have a significant impact on currency ex-
change rates. Therefore, fluctuations in currency exchange rates could have material 
adverse effects on the business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

5.9. Insufficient business insurance 
Our products may contain undetected defects, especially when first introduced or 
when new products are released. Product defects could result in the rejection of our 
products, the loss of customers, the diversion of resources or increased customer 
service and support costs. Under Chinese law, Joyou is not required to maintain 
product liability insurance coverage. 
 
In addition, Joyou is subject to numerous other risks including natural disasters, po-
tential business disruptions or potential litigation. Joyou does not maintain any busi-
ness liability, loss of data or disruption insurance coverage for its operations. Any 
product defects, business disruptions, litigation or natural disasters might result in 
Joyou's incurring substantial costs and the diversion of its resources. The occurrence 
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of uninsured damages could have material adverse effects on the business, financial 
condition and results of operations of Joyou. 
 

5.10. Insufficient liquidity in Joyou AG 
Joyou AG is a holding company without any operating business of its own. Joyou 
AG's assets are largely located in China. Current PRC regulations permit the pay-
ment of dividends only out of accumulated profits determined in accordance with 
Chinese accounting standards and regulations. In addition, a subsidiary of the Com-
pany, if it constitutes a foreign-invested entity under PRC law, is required to set aside 
at least 10% of its after-tax profits each year to fund a statutory reserve fund until 
such reserves in aggregate reach 50% of its registered capital. Furthermore, foreign-
invested entities may be required to set aside a portion of their after-tax profits to 
fund an employee welfare fund in an amount which lies within the discretion of the 
subsidiary's board. These reserves are not distributable as cash dividends. 
 
Under PRC foreign exchange rules and regulations, payments of current account 
items, including profit distributions and operating-related expenditures, may be made 
in foreign currencies without prior approval but are subject to procedural require-
ments. Strict foreign exchange controls continue to apply to capital account transac-
tions. These transactions must be approved by and/or registered with the State Ad-
ministration of Foreign Exchange ("SAFE") or its local counterparts, and repayment of 
loan principal, distribution of return on direct capital investment and investments in 
negotiable instruments are also subject to restrictions. 
 
Should any of the PRC subsidiaries of Joyou AG be, or become, restricted and/or 
legally prohibited from and/or unable to pay dividends or other distributions outside of 
China, this could have material adverse effects on Joyou AG's financial condition. 
 
 

6. Report on post-balance sheet date events 
There have been no events material to the financial position or financial performance 
of Joyou occurred after the balance sheet date. 
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7. Forecast Report 
The following statements on the future development and performance of Joyou and 
the key underlying assumptions concerning market and industry developments are 
based on assessments which Joyou considers realistic on the basis of the informa-
tion currently available to it. They nevertheless involve a degree of uncertainty and an 
unavoidable risk that forecast developments may not actually occur, either in the 
general pattern or to the extent anticipated. 
 

7.1. Future Business Development 
 
According to the State Council Development Research Centre China's economy is 
likely to grow 9.5 percent in 2010, topping last year's expected figure, as real estate 
investment buoys growth and inflation remains mild. This estimation published by a 
leading state think tank is confirmed by other international banks such as Deutsche 
Bank which is expecting a growth in China’s GDP between 9% and 10%. Therefore, 
China's economy will remain robust, with market-driven investment picking up while 
government-led stimulus spending is to slow down.  
 
In March 2008, McKinsey Global Institute estimated that if the urbanization trend was 
to continue, nearly one billion people would be living in urban centers by 2025. Fur-
ther the urban population is expected to grow by 62% between 2005 and 2025, lead-
ing to 537 cities with a population over one and a half million, and 222 cities with a 
population over 5 million. The Chinese housing and construction industry will likely 
remain one of the main beneficiaries of the ongoing urbanization trend and benefit 
from the need to develop adequate urban infrastructures which includes building, 
construction and refurbishment of housing and office space. These trends will also 
strongly support the need for our products. In addition, the strong economic growth in 
recent years will enable Chinese households to improve their living conditions in the 
coming years leading to higher demand for our products.  
 
According to the State Council Development Research Centre, which advises the 
Chinese government, investment in real estate could grow by 30 to 40 percent com-
pared with 2009 and therewith becoming a main force driving investment growth. 
 
Based on these parameters, BSRIA predicts in its China Bathroom 2009 study an 
average volume growth rate until 2013 of 5% for faucets, 5% for Ceramics and Non-
Ceramics and 3.9% for bathtubs. The value of the market is expected to increase 
further with corresponding consumption rate increases. In 2009 there was a total in-
crease in market value of 22% of which 16.8% was due to increasing prices. At the 
same time, we expect a consolidation process in the Chinese sanitary ware market 
leading to a reduction in the number of competitors. 
 
Competition in the Chinese and global markets for sanitary ware is particularly in-
tense and we expect this competition to continue to increase and intensify in the fu-
ture. We expect that the highly fragmented market for sanitary ware in China will be 
consolidated by large companies which already offer a complete range of sanitary 
ware products, which will in turn lead to the emergence of even stronger competitors 
in the Chinese market. In addition, the barriers to entry in the market for sanitary 
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ware are relatively low for new competitors with sufficient financial resources to make 
the necessary investments in machinery and experienced personnel. In addition, in 
connection with the economic slowdown and the results of the financial crisis in in-
dustrialized countries, we expect more of our international competitors to increase 
their sales activities in the Chinese market, which is believed to be one of only a few 
growth markets worldwide leading to intensified competition with respect to high-
quality products and for qualified personnel in China. 
 

7.2. General Statement of the Future Business Environment 
The economic development in China as well as mega-trends such as urbanisation 
will strongly support the need to develop adequate urban infrastructures leading to an 
increase in demand for sanitary ware products. This process will also be supported 
by increasing disposable income of the average Chinese household enabling it to 
spend more money on design and decoration of bathrooms. Consequently, we be-
lieve that the Chinese sanitary ware industry is in a favorable position to provide for 
reasonable growth rates in 2010 and beyond.  
 

7.3. Future Development of Joyou Group 

7.3.1. Corporate Restructuring 
In the first quarter of 2010, Joyou AG, Joyou Hong Kong, the Shareholders of Joyou 
AG and the Preferential Shareholders in Joyou Hong Kong will execute an agree-
ment according to which the Preferential Shareholders in Joyou Hong Kong will re-
structure their investment from the level of Joyou Hong Kong to the level of Joyou 
AG. In the Restructuring Agreement, the parties will agree that the Preferential 
Shareholders in Joyou Hong Kong will transfer all their preferred shares in Joyou 
Hong Kong to Joyou AG against issuance of new ordinary shares in Joyou AG to 
them. The Restructuring Agreement stipulates that a capital increase against contri-
butions in kind will be carried out at Joyou AG which is to become effective at the lat-
est as of the day of admission of the Company's shares to trading on the Frankfurt 
Stock exchange. The Restructuring Capital Increase is expected to be resolved upon 
during the General Meeting of shareholders of Joyou AG that also resolves upon the 
IPO Capital Increase. After the completion of the corporate restructuring Joyou AG 
will be the holder of 100% of the shares (including ordinary shares and preference 
shares) of Joyou Hong Kong. It is expected that the filing of the Restructuring Capital 
Increase with the commercial register will be made simultaneously with the filing of 
the IPO Capital Increase with the commercial register, and the Restructuring Capital 
Increase will become effective simultaneously with the registration of the IPO Capital 
Increase with the commercial register, which is expected to occur one day before or 
on the day of admission of the Company's shares to trading at Frankfurt Stock Ex-
change. 

7.3.2. Business Development 
To explore the opportunities for our industry, we will focus on further strengthening 
our domestic sales in part by expanding our distribution network and developing to-
wards a sanitary ware producer offering the whole range of bathroom and kitchen 
products. To remain competitive, we will continue to invest significant resources in 
the ongoing development of new products and improvement of existing products.  
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We position our own brand products in the medium-range segment of the Chinese 
sanitary ware market, targeting its sales mainly at private consumers of the growing 
Chinese middle class, as well as large-scale construction projects such as new hotels 
or other buildings of public use. With an expected increase in average salaries and a 
corresponding growth in the upper-middle class in China in the future, we intend to 
increase our sales of high-end products. 
 
To promote our brand “Joyou”, we intend to intensify its marketing and promotion ef-
forts on Chinese national television, regional newspapers and through sponsoring 
public events in order to increase the market perception of Joyou as an innovative 
producer of sanitary ware products with modern design and high quality at affordable 
prices. This will lead to substantially increased advertising expenses in absolute 
terms and as proportion of sales. Examples of this further brand building activity are 
our recent signing of the six time 2008 Beijing Olympic gold medalist, Jingjing Guo 
who will be the Joyou brand ambassador for the coming 2 years. We have started 
this branding drive through national CCTV television and media campaigns. Other 
examples include sponsorship of major events such as ‘Pan-China Concert Show’ 
national CCTV stations, which attracted nearly 40,000 attendees and will be shown 
repeatedly across the whole of China. 
 
Furthermore, we intend to expand Joyou’s value chain by broadening our production 
capabilities in order to become a producer of a wider range of high-quality sanitary 
ware products, ranging from faucets to plastic-made showerheads and ceramic sani-
tary ware. Galvanization is currently the bottleneck within our production process as 
capacities of our current galvanization lines are lower than the capacities of our fau-
cet production lines. Therefore, we intend to expand the capacity of our existing gal-
vanization lines and intend to establish a new factory with new galvanization lines for 
plastic shower heads in an industrial park approximately 30 kilometers away from our 
new factory in Luncang, Nan'an.  
 
With respect to the agreement with Grohe, we intend to sign-up up to 50 additional 
regional distributors which are intended to open approximately 500 to 600 additional 
points of sales in 2010. As these new points of sales will exclusively market Grohe 
products, Grohe will pay a certain amount of the store fitting support. Furthermore, 
we have agreed with Grohe to engage in certain joint marketing and sales promotion 
activities. The distribution agreement contains certain sales targets for the retail sales 
for Grohe products in 2010, 2011 and 2012 which, if met, will entitle Joyou to certain 
volume discounts in the respective following years. 
 
We believe that Joyou will be able to achieve further growth in sales revenues as well 
as net profit in 2010 and beyond. To enable Joyou to explore the growth potentials as 
envisaged by management, however, the intended IPO in Germany is key to secure 
the additional funding required enabling Joyou to finance the expected growth in 
working capital as well as non-current assets.  
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7.4. General Statement of the future business development 
We have prepared Joyou for the development to be expected in the business year 
2010. With additional financing being available from the capital increase in Joyou 
Hong Kong in 2009 and the additional funds expected from the IPO in Germany, we 
will invest in the growth of our production capacities as well as our retail distribution 
network. With our innovative products and our “Joyou” brand being further strengthen 
we are well prepared for the coming changes in the Chinese sanitary ware industry. 
Therefore, we strongly believe that Joyou will be able to strengthen is market position 
in the Chinese sanitary ware market. 
 
 
Hamburg, 11 March 2010 
 
 
    
Jainshe Cai Jilin Cai Gang Zheng Zufang Li 
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The comparability is affected by movements in the relative value of the functional currency (RMB) 
compared to the presentational currency (EUR). 
 
The accompanying policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Joyou AG was formed by means of contribution in kind (Sachgründung) in the amount of 
EUR 10,000,000.00. The issuance of the new 10,000,000 non-par value ordinary shares (In-
haber-Stückaktien) with a proportionate value of EUR 1.00 each was effected against a contribution 
in kind comprising all shares of Joyou Hong Kong. The Company took legal effect upon registration 
in the commercial register on 28 August 2008. The Company’s initial share capital is fully contrib-
uted. 
 
As the shareholders in Joyou Hong Kong have become the shareholders in Joyou AG, the founda-
tion of Joyou AG has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition. Consequently, legally Joyou AG 
is regarded as the parent and Joyou Hong Kong as the subsidiary. For accounting purposes Joyou 
Hong Kong is deemed to be the acquirer as its shareholders have the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of Joyou AG so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Therefore, as de-
scribed in note 19 , the share capital in the consolidated opening statement of financial position for 
Joyou AG as at 31 August 2008 is that of the legal parent Joyou AG with the statutory reserves, 
retained earnings and the foreign currency translation reserve disclosed as equity in the consoli-
dated financial statements for the accounting period ending 31 December 2009 equaling the equity 
of Joyou Hong Kong with the exception of a EUR 9,999,991 adjustment to decrease the capital 
surplus at 31 December 2009, to adjust the share capital disclosed to that of Joyou AG.  
 
Share capital and the rights attaining thereto are commented on in note 19.1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The comparability is affected by movements in the relative value of the functional currency (RMB) 
compared to the presentational currency (EUR). 
 
The accompanying policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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The cash and cash equivalents stated above correspond with those reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position (please refer to note 18 for further information) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The comparability is affected by movements in the relative value of the functional currency (RMB) compared 
to the presentational currency (EUR). 
 
The accompanying policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
of the Joyou Group 
 
1. Nature of operations 
 
Joyou AG and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) design, produce and sell faucets and other sanitary ware prod-
ucts in the People´s Republic of China (hereafter: “PRC” or “China”) under their brand name "Joyou" and are 
also engaged as a manufacturer for international brands and trading companies in the United States and 
Europe as well as certain emerging markets. 
 
Since mid-2007, Joyou has established an extensive distribution network in China. Joyou's operating facilities 
are based in Nan'an near Quanzhou in the Fujian Province in China. Joyou's retail distribution network con-
sists of stores being operated by unaffiliated shop owners who have been engaged by unaffiliated regional 
distributors that Joyou has chosen for specific regions of China. Joyou only has contractual relationships with 
the unaffiliated regional distributors based on standardized distribution agreements. Joyou also sells its own 
brand products to large-scale construction projects in China, such as new hotels or other public buildings.  
 
Joyou also sells Original Design Manufacturer (hereafter: ODM) and Original Equipment Manufacturer 
(hereafter: OEM) products to international brand manufacturers and trading companies as well as compo-
nents for faucets to trading companies. 
 
2. General information and statement of compliance with IFRS 
 
Joyou AG is the Group’s legal parent company. The company is a German limited liability stock corporation 
which is domiciled in Germany. The address of Joyou AG’s registered office is Chilehaus A, Fischertwiete 2, 
20095 Hamburg, Germany. Joyou AG intends to apply for admission of its shares to trading on the regulated 
market (Regulierter Markt) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 
 
The Group has its significant business operations including all the manufacturing operations in the PRC, held 
via a Hong Kong registered holding company, Hong Kong Zhongyu Sanitary Technology Limited (“Joyou 
Hong Kong”). Joyou Hong Kong was established on 4 August 2006 as Goodmark International Enterprise 
Limited as a company with limited liability under the laws of Hong Kong. The company was incorporated with 
an issued share capital of HKD 100 divided into 100 ordinary shares and did not carry out any operative 
business. In the accounting period the share capital was increased by HKD 127,376 up to HKD 127,476 The 
address of the registered office is Suite 3104-6, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, 
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China. The principal activity of the company is the 
holding of investments. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of Joyou Group for the accounting period 31 December 2009 have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the In-
ternational Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, United Kingdom, and the interpretations of the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), in so far as these have been adopted by 
the European Union (EU) in effect at the closing date on a voluntary basis in accordance with section 315a 
paragraph 3 of the German Commercial Code. The Group consolidated financial statements of 31 December 
2009 and the period then ended are the first to have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) in so far as these have been endorsed by the European Union (EU) in effect at 
the closing date. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of Joyou Group are drawn up in Euros. Amounts are stated in thou-
sands of Euros (kEUR) except where otherwise indicated. 
 
The financial statements of the individual consolidated companies are prepared as of the reporting date for 
the Group financial statements. 
 
The consolidated financial statements for the accounting period ended 31 December 2009 (including com-
parative information relating to the short accounting year 2008) were approved and authorized for issue by 
the  
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board of directors on March 11, 2010. They were approved by the supervisory board in its meeting of 
March 14, 2010. 
 
3. Accounting policies 
 
3.1. General 
 
3.1.1. Overall consideration 
 
The significant accounting policies that have been applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are summarised below. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies specified by those 
IFRSs that are in effect at the end of the accounting period (31 December 2009), or which have been adopted 
early (see note 3.2). These accounting policies have been used consistently throughout all periods presented 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
An overview of Standards, amendments and interpretations issued, but not yet effective is given in note 3.1.2. 
 
3.1.2. Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been adopted early by the Group 
 
At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments 
and interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been 
adopted early be the Group.  
 
Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group's accounting policy for 
the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not 
expected to to be relevant to the Group's consolidated financial statements. 
 
In January 2008, the IASB published the revised standards IFRS 3 (Business Combinations) and IAS 27 
(Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements). Significant changes required by IFRS 3 (revised 2008) 
include: In future, a non-controlling interest may be measured either at fair value (i.e. including goodwill) or at 
the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets of the entity in which the non-controlling interest is held. 
In the case of a step acquisition, the acquirer must remeasure its previously held interest at fair value on the 
date on which it gains control of the acquiree and recognize the resulting gain or loss in income. The differ-
ence between the (remeasured) carrying amount of the interest in the subsidiary and the acquirer’s remeas-
ured proportionate share of the net assets of the subsidiary must be recognized as goodwill. Liabilities rec-
ognized as of the acquisition date for the purpose of future purchase price adjustments in light of future events 
can no longer be offset against goodwill in subsequent periods. Ancillary acquisition costs must be recognized 
in income. The principal changes required by IAS 27 (revised 2008) are: A reduction in the equity interest held 
in a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control by the parent is now to be accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If a reduction in the equity interest held in a subsidiary involves a loss of control, the assets and 
liabilities of the subsidiary must be derecognized in their entirety. The remaining interest in the company is to 
be recognized at fair value. The difference between the remaining carrying amounts and the fair values must 
be recognized in income. Non-controlling interests that become negative due to incurred losses must be 
recognized at their net negative amounts. IFRS 3 (revised 2008) and IAS 27 (revised 2008) are applicable 
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. Earlier application is permitted provided 
that both revised standards are applied simultaneously. The impact on the presentation of the Group’s finan-
cial position and results of operations will depend on the scale of future business combinations or divest-
ments. It has been adopted by the European Union on 3 June 2009. 
 
In July 2009 the IASB issued amendments to IAS 39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement) 
– Eligible Hedged Items. The amendments provide clarification on two aspects of hedge accounting: identi-
fying inflation as a hedged risk or portion, and hedging with options. The Amendments have been adopted by 
the European Union on 15 September 2009 and they are applicable prospectively for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 July 2009. Earlier application is allowed.  
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IFRIC 15 (Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate). The Interpretation addresses how entities should 
determine whether an agreement for the construction of real estate is within the scope of IAS 11 (Construction 
Contracts) or IAS 18 (Revenue) and when revenue from the construction of real estate should be recognised. 
The European Union has endorsed the interpretation which is effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2010. 
 
IFRIC 16 (Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation) has been issued. It defines the risk to which 
hedge accounting may be applied in this context and which entity or entities within a Group may hold the 
respective hedging instrument. This interpretation, which has been adopted by the European Union on 4 
June, 2009, is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October, 2009. 
 
IFRIC 17 (Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners) has been published. This interpretation defines when 
an obligation to distribute a non-cash dividend is to be recognized, that it must be measured at fair value, and 
that the difference between the dividends paid and the carrying amount of the net assets distributed must be 
recognized in profit or loss at the distribution date. This interpretation, which is to be applied prospectively for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009, has been adopted by the European Union on 26 November 
2009. 
 
IFRIC 18 (Transfers of Assets from Customers). This interpretation relates to agreements in which an entity 
receives from a customer an item of property, plant and equipment – or cash earmarked exclusively for its 
acquisition or construction – that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to 
provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services. The interpretation specifies the 
circumstances and timing of asset recognition by the receiving entity and how the asset is to be measured. It 
also clarifies how to determine the receiving entity’s obligation to render one or more separately identifiable 
services in exchange for the transferred asset and sets forth the conditions for revenue recognition. IFRIC 18 
is to be applied prospectively to transfers of assets from customers on or after 1 July 2009. Earlier application 
is permitted on certain conditions. The interpretation has been adopted by the European Union on 27 
November 2009. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 1 (First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards and IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled 
Entity or Associate) has been issued. The amendments deal with the measurement of the cost of invest-
ments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates when adopting IFRSs for the first time and 
with the recognition of dividend income from subsidiaries in a parent’s separate financial statements. The 
amendments have been endorsed on 25 November 2009 and are effective for financial years beginning in 1 
January 2010 or later. 
 
In June 2009, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 (Share-based Payment). These amendments clarify 
the scope of IFRS 2, as well as the accounting for Group cash-settled share-based payment transactions in 
the separate (or individual) financial statements of an entity receiving the goods or services when another 
Group entity or shareholder has the obligation to settle the award. These amendments are to be applied for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. They have not yet been adopted by the European Un-
ion. 
 
IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement) has been published. The new standard is part 
of a wider project the conducted by the IASB, aiming at a replacement of IAS 39 (Financial Instruments). IFRS 
9 simplifies the classification model for financial instruments and establishes two primary categories, namely 
amortised cost and fair value. The standard is expected to be effective for financial periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013. It has not yet been adopted by the European Union. 
 
Amendments to IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures: Relationships with the State). The amendment proposes 
an exemption from the disclosure requirements in IAS 24 for entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or 
significantly influenced by a state (so-called “state-controlled entities”) in relation to transactions with other 
state-controlled entities. These amendments, which have to be applied to annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011, have not yet been adopted by the European Union. 
 
Amendments to IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
– Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation) have been issued. The revisions to 
IAS 32 amend the criteria for debt/equity classification by permitting certain puttable financial instruments and 
instruments (or components of instruments) that impose on an entity an obligation to deliver to another party a 
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pro-rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation, to be classified as equity, subject to specified 
criteria being met. The amendments are to be applied on or after 1 February 2010. They have not yet been 
endorsed by the European Union. 
  
The Annual Improvements 2009 consist of a number of smaller accounting changes for presentation, recog-
nition and measurement purposes – some of which are changes in terminology only, and some of which are 
substantive but will have no material effect on amounts reported. The Improvements are to be applied for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010. They have not yet been adopted by the 
European Union.  
  
IFRIC 19 (Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments) has been published. The interpretation 
addresses the accounting procedures by an entity which issues equity instruments in order to settle, in full or 
in part, a financial liability. It has not yet been adopted by the European Union and is expected to be effective 
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 
  
The following accounting standards and amendments to existing standards have been published but are not 
yet effective and have not yet been adopted by the European Union: 
 Amendments to IFRS 1: First-time Adoption: Additional Exemptions to First-time Adopters (effective from 

1. January 2010)   
 Amendments to IFRIC 14: Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (effective from 1. January 

2011) 
 
Management does not expect the standards to have a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
3.2. Summary of accounting policies 
 
3.2.1. Overall considerations 

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are summarized below. 
 
As the group was legally formed on 28 August 2008 and control over the subsidiaries passed to Joyou AG as 
of this date, the group is required to prepare an initial consolidation as of the same date. However, as there 
were no material activities between 28 August 2009 and 31 August 2009, Joyou AG has decided to prepare 
the initial consolidation as of 31 August 2009.  
 
The Group has elected to adopt IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial Statements) (Revised 2007) by presenting 
the 'Statement of comprehensive income' in one statement. 
 
The figures presented in the consolidated financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thou-
sand EURO (kEUR). 
 
3.2.2. Basis of consolidation 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiary undertak-
ing(s) drawn up to 31 December 2009. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to 
control the financial and operating policies. Joyou AG obtains and exercises control through holding more 
than half of the voting rights.  

Inter-company receivables and liabilities, as well as inter-company revenue, income and expenses are 
eliminated. Unrealized gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Where 
unrealized losses are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a 
Group perspective.  

All subsidiaries have an annual reporting date of 31 December. 

Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 
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Hong Kong Zhongyu Sanitary Technology Ltd. 

Quanzhou Joyou Sanitation  
Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. 

Joyou Group Building Materials Co., Ltd. Nan'an Joyou Galvanization Industrial Co., Ltd. 

Joyou AG 

100%  

100% 

58.9% 

100% 

 
3.2.3. Reverse acquisition and transactions under common control 
 
Joyou Group was founded in 2008 by a series of transactions between parties under control of the Cai family 
and finally a contribution in kind of all shares of Joyou Hong Kong – by then the Group’s parent company – 
into Joyou AG, the legal parent of Joyou Group as at reporting date. The group structure as at 31 December 
2009 is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
On 8 June 2009 the share capital of Joyou Hong Kong was increased by HKD 9,900.00 to HKD 10,000.00. Of 
the new total shares HKD 8,421 were allotted to Joyou AG and HKD 1,479 Preferred Shares – the so-called 
Series A Preferred Shares – to two investors. Consequently, the voting rights of Joyou AG in Joyou Hong 
Kong have been reduced to 85.21% with the two investors having voting rights of 14.79%. Prior to Joyou 
Hong Kong’s acquisition by the Cai family, Mr. Cai Jianshe had granted loans directly to Joyou Sanitation 
Technology being refinanced by the two investors. After the acquisition of Joyou Hong Kong said loans were 
transferred into Joyou Hong Kong. As agreed between Joyou Hong Kong, Joyou AG, Mr. Cai Jianshe and the 
two investors, amounts due from the two investors where set off against said shareholder loans granted by Mr. 
Cai Jianshe to Joyou Hong Kong. 
 
 
On October 16, 2009, Joyou Hong Kong made a capital increase creating new ordinary and Preferred shares. 
As a result of the issuance of Preferred shares as A-Series and B-Series (see note 20.2.), the voting rights of 
Joyou AG in Joyou Hong Kong have been reduced from 85.21% to 58.936% in the accounting period 2009. 
Furthermore, Joyou AG has pledged 10% of its shares in Joyou Hong Kong to the investors in Series B Pre-
ferred Shares. The voting rights remain with Joyou AG until and unless certain cases of default occur or 
Preferred Shares are converted into ordinary shares. 
 
With contracts dated 2 November 2009 the shares in Joyou Galvanisation have been transferred from Joyou 
Building Materials to Quanzhou Joyou Sanitation Technology to reduce the complexity of the Group structure 
in Mainland China and to reduce potential tax risks at the level of Joyou AG with respect to German trade tax. 
The share transfer was registered with the Nan'an Administration for Industry and Commerce on 12 Novem-
ber 2009. The share transfer has no implications for Joyou’s consolidated financial statements except for 
some legal fees and stamp duty associated to this share transfer to be expensed. 
 
 
3.2.3.1. Transactions under common control 
 
Under current IFRS standards, transactions between entities under common control which qualify as a busi-
ness combination are not subject to IFRS 3; the scope exclusion is expressed as “a combination of entities or 
businesses under common control”. For the purpose of the exemption from IFRS 3, a business combination 
involving entities under common control is a business combination in which all of the combining entities are 
ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the business combination. The stan-
dard notes that an entity can be controlled by an individual, or by a group of individuals acting together under 
a contractual arrangement, and that the individual or group of individuals may not be subject to the financial 
reporting requirements of IFRSs. Thus a transaction involving entities controlled by the same individual –in- 
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cluding one that results in a new parent entity - would be beyond the scope of IFRS 3. 
 
The preliminary Group structure – i.e. before contributing the shares in Joyou Hong Kong to Joyou AG – wa 
controlled by the Cai family as had been the individual group companies forming the Joyou Group as at 31 
August 2008. All transactions leading to the preliminary Group structure have been based on transactions 
between related parties which have been under the common control of the Cai family. 
 
In the absence of an international standard or interpretation that specifically applies to a transaction, para-
graphs 10 to 12 of IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” set out the ap-
proach to be followed. This requires, among other things, that where IFRS does not include guidance for a 
particular issue, Joyou’s management should select an appropriate accounting policy. Under this circum-
stance, the predecessor accounting method has been applied for the accounting of the combination of Joyou 
Hong Kong with the business of the three Mainland China entities Joyou Sanitation Technology, Joyou 
Building Materials and Joyou Galvanization. This method combines and presents the financial information of 
the Group as if Joyou Hong Kong and the three Mainland China entities combined have always been part of 
the Group. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities transferred to Joyou Hong Kong have been recognized at 
historical cost. For further details refer to note 4. 

3.2.3.2. Reverse acquisition 

According to IFRS 3.B1 a reverse acquistion occurs when the entity that issues securities (the legal acquirer) 
is identified as the acquiree for accounting purposes. IFRS require that if a new entity is formed to issue equity 
interest to effect a business combination, the entity that existed before the business combination shall be 
identified as the acquirer. Accordingly, Joyou AG is to be treated as acquiree and Joyou Hong Kong as the 
acquirer for accounting purposes. For further details refer to note 4. 
 
3.2.4 Foreign currency translation 
 
3.2.4.1 Functional currency 
 
The directors have determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group oper-
ates, to be Renminbi (“RMB”). Sales and major costs arising from the provision of goods and services in-
cluding major operating expenses are primarily influenced by fluctuations in RMB. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the consolidated 
entities and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating 
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the date of the 
initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair values are determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 
reporting date are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income except for exchange differences 
arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries, which are 
recognized initially in a separate component of equity as foreign currency translation reserve in the consoli-
dated statement of financial position sheet and recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income on disposal of the subsidiary. 
 
3.2.4.2. Presentational currency 

The presentation currency of the Group is EUR, being the presentation currency of its German domiciled legal 
parent and holding company, and therefore the financial information has been translated from RMB to EUR at 
the following rates: 

                       Period end rates                        Average rate 

31 December 2009                            EUR 1.00 = RMB  9.7772             EUR 1.00 = RMB  9.5283 

31 December 2008                            EUR 1.00 = RMB  9.4956             EUR 1.00 = RMB 10.2236 
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The results and financial position are translated into EUR using the following procedures: 
 
Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position are presented at the closing rate ruling at that 
reporting date. Income and expenses for statements of comprehensive income are translated at average 
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences are charged or credited to other comprehensive income 
and recognized in the currency translation reserve in equity. 
 
On disposal of an operation with functional currency different to presentational currency the cumulative 
translation differences recognized in equity are reclassified to profit or loss and recognized as part of the gain 
or loss on disposal 
 
3.2.5. Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief op-
erating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the board of directors of Joyou AG, 
which makes strategic decisions. 
 
In identifying its six operating segments, board of directors generally follows the Group's product categories. 
These segments also represent reportable segments under IFRS 8. 
 
The activities undertaken by the bathroom faucets segment includes the sale of basin faucets, bathtub fau-
cets and bidet faucets. The kitchen product segment includes the sale of kitchen faucets and kitchen basins. 
The shower products segment represents the sale of handheld showerheads and shower faucets. The seg-
ment of other bathroom products and accessories comprises ceramic sanitary ware, bathtubs, bathroom 
cabinets and bathroom accessories. In the segment of other faucets and sanitary hardware, washing machine 
faucets, valves and unpolished products are combined. Finally, the components and copper semi-finished 
products segment includes the inner and outer parts of faucets, other brass-made semi-finished products, 
brass ingots and brass pipes. 
 
The operating segments are not yet managed separately as Joyou has grown significantly only since mid 
2007 and the technologies and other resources used in the segments do not differ significantly. Hence reve-
nue and costs are allocated to segments only up to gross profit. Segment assets are allocated based on the 
proportionate share in revenues. Due to the strategic goals of Joyou, the intended further growth of the Group 
and its ongoing organizational development, a change in the segmental structure may become indispensable 
in the future. 
 
During the period under review, there were no inter-segment transfers. 
 
The accounting policies the Group uses for segment reporting under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in its 
financial statements. 
 
3.2.6. Revenue 
 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognized. Revenue from major products is shown in note 5. 
 
3.2.6.1. Sales of goods 
 
Sales of goods comprise the sale of faucets and other sanitary ware. Revenue is measured by reference to 
the fair value of consideration received or receivable by the Group for goods supplied, excluding VAT, re-
bates, and trade discounts. Revenue is recognized upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of own-
ership of the goods to the customer, which generally coincides with delivery and acceptance of the goods 
sold. Revenue is not recognized to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of 
the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods. Returns, discounts, incentives and 
rebates as described above are recognized in the period in which the underlying sales are recognized, as a 
reduction of sales revenues. These amounts are calculated as follows: provisions for rebates based on at-
tainment of sales targets are estimated and accrued as each of the underlying sales transactions is recog-
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nized. 

 
3.2.6.2. Interest income 
 
Interest income is accrued on a time proportionate basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
interest rate applicable, on an effective yield basis. 

3.2.6.3. Government grants 
 
Government grants are recognized at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all conditions attached will be complied with. When the grant relates to expense items, it is 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income over the period necessary to match it on a systematic 
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is 
recognized as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is amortized to the statement of 
comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual installments. 
 
3.2.7. Operating expenses 
 
Operating expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the service or at the date of their origin. 
 
3.2.8. Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences 
when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in process and the expenditures or 
borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are ready for their in-
tended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss 
is recorded. 
 
3.2.9. Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets include acquired land-use-rights and software used in production or administration.  
 
Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date. In addition, they are subject to impair-
ment testing as described in note 3.2.11. 
 
Amortization has been included within 'depreciation, amortization and impairment of non-financial assets'. 
 
3.2.9.1. Land use rights  
 
Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Cost represents 
consideration paid for the right to use the land on which various warehouses, office premises and processing 
factories are situated. Amortization of land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis over the period of 
the land use right of 25-50 years. 
 
All amounts charged in respect of the amortization of land use rights are included in cost of sales 
 
3.2.9.2. Software 
 
Software is capitalized on the basis of cost incurred to acquire and bring it to the intended use condition. Di-
rect expenditure, which can enhance or extend the performance of the software, and which can be measured 
reliably, is recognized as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. Costs associ-
ated with maintaining the software are recognized as expense as incurred. 
 
Software is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and any impairment losses. The costs are amortized 
using a straight-line method over an estimated useful life of 10 years. All amounts charged in respect of the 
amortization of software are included in administrative costs. 
 
3.2.9.3. Development activities 
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Expenditure on research (or the research phase of an internal project) is recognized as an expense in the  
 
period in which it is incurred. 
 
Costs that are directly attributable to the development phase of new products and related patents are rec-
ognized as intangible assets provided they meet the following recognition requirements:  
 
• completion of the intangible asset is technically feasible so that it will be available for use or sale;  
• the Group intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;  
• the Group has the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;  
• the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, this requires that 

there is a market for the output from the intangible asset or for the intangible asset itself, or, if it is to be 
used internally, the asset will be used in generating such benefits;  

• there are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell 
the intangible asset; and  

• the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be measured reliably.  
 
Until 31 December 2009, development costs have not met all these criteria for capitalization and as a result, 
they are expensed as incurred. During the twelve months to 31 December 2009, research expenditure of 
kEUR 1,619 has been charged as an expense. 
 
3.2.10. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at historic cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impair-
ment loss where the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be lower than its carrying amount. 
 
Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for production or administrative purposes are 
carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets commences when the 
assets are ready for their intended use. 
 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method, over the following useful lives. 
 
Buildings 25 years 
Machinery 12 years 
Office equipment 8 years 
Motor vehicles 10 years 
 
The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure 
that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equip-
ment. The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is deter-
mined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
3.2.11. Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset maybe impaired. If 
any such indication exists, or an annual impairment test for an asset is required, the Group makes an esti-
mate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 
 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows 
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. Where the carrying 
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amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount.  
 
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recog-
nized impairment losses recognized for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have de-
creased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment 
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss is recognized. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would 
have resulted, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. The 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. After such a reversal, 
the depreciation charge is adjusted for future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any 
residual value, on a systematic base over its remaining useful life. 
 
3.2.12. Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards 
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Financial assets are measured initially at fair value plus transactions costs. Financial liabilities are measured 
initially at fair value less transactions costs. 
 
Preference shares, which are mandatory redeemable on a specific date, are classified as liabilities. For pre-
ference shares granting a conversion right into ordinary shares, split accounting is applied. The fair value of 
the liability portion of the preference shares is determined using a market interest rate for equivalent prefer-
ence shares not being mandatory redeemable.  
 
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost basis until extinguished on conversion into ordinary 
shares or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is recognised 
and included in shareholders´ equity, net of income tax effects. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured subsequently as described below. 
 
3.2.12.1. Financial assets 
 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into different categories. The 
category determines subsequent measurement. The Group held only financial assets of the category loans 
and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents).  
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition these are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is im-
material. The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other financial receivables fall into this 
category of financial instruments. 
 
All loans and receivables are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets 
are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is im-
paired. Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when 
other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are not con-
sidered to be individually impaired are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined by reference 
to the industry and region of counterparty and other available features of shared credit risk characteristics.  
 
3.2.12.2. Financial liabilities 
 
The Group's financial liabilities include borrowings, interest-bearing short-term bank loans, trade and other 
payables. 
 
Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income when it is evident that payment will not be occur. 
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All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in the 
statement of comprehensive income are included within 'finance costs' or 'finance income'. 
 
3.2.13. Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost including those for bringing the in-
ventories to their present location and condition is accounted for as follows: 
 
Raw materials purchase cost on a weighted average basis 
 
Finished goods and work-in-process    costs of direct materials and labor and a proportion of 

manufacture overheads based on normal operating ca-
pacity. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

The carrying values of inventories are disclosed under note 16. 
 
3.2.14. Income tax 
 
Tax expense recognised in statement of comprehensive income comprises the sum of current tax and de-
ferred tax not recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable 
on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is 
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period in the respective countries in which the Group is operating. 
 
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carry-
ing amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial 
recognition of goodwill or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a 
business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to 
their respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against 
future taxable income. For management's assessment of the probability of future taxable income to utilize 
against deferred tax assets, see note 3.2.20.2. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off current tax 
assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 
 
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in profit 
or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, in which case the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, 
respectively. 
 
3.2.15. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, bank deposits and short term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  
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3.2.16. Capital and reserves 
 
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued by Joyou AG. 

Capital reserves include any premiums received on issue of share capital. As at reporting date, the amount 
reflects only the amounts of Joyou Hong Kong. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares 
will be deducted from capital reserve, net of any related income tax benefits. In its statutory financial state-
ments as at 31 December 2009, Joyou AG does not disclose any capital reserve. 
 
Foreign currency translation differences arising on the translation of the Group's foreign entities are included 
in the foreign currency translation reserve.  
 
Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits. 
 
All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. 
 
3.2.17. Retirement benefit plans  
 
The eligible employees of the Group, who are citizens of the PRC, are members of a state-managed retire-
ment benefit scheme operated by the local government. The Group is required to contribute a certain per-
centage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the 
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions. Contributions to 
national pension schemes are recognized as an expense in the period in which the related service is per-
formed. 
 
3.2.18. Share-based employee remuneration 
 
The Group operates an equity-settled share based remuneration plan for its financial officer. 
 
All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their 
fair values. Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of employees are 
determined indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. This fair value is ap-
praised at the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions. 
 
All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognized as an expense in profit or loss with a corresponding 
credit to ‘retained earnings’. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over 
the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest. 
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to 
become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there are any indications that the number of 
shares options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting is 
recognized in the current period. No adjustment is made to any expense recognized in prior periods if share 
options ultimately exercised are different to that estimated on vesting. 
 
3.2.19. Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets  
 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group 
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but 
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the re-
lated provision. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income net of any reimbursement.  
 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the 
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the 
present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be re-
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quired in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are dis-
counted to their present values, where the time value of money is material. 
 
 
 
Provisions for environmental protection are recorded if future cash outflows are likely to be necessary to en-
sure compliance with environmental regulations or to carry out remediation work, such costs can be reliably 
estimated and no future benefits are expected from such measures. Estimating the future costs of environ-
mental protection and remediation involves many uncertainties, particularly with regard to the status of laws 
and regulations. Liabilities for decommissioning cost are recognized when the group has an obligation to 
dismantle an re-move a facility or an item of plant and to restore the site on which it is located, and when a 
reasonable estimate of that liability can be made. Where an obligation exists due to land-use-rights regula-
tions, this will be on construction. An obligation for decommissioning may also crystallize during the period of 
operation of a facility through a change in legislation or through a decision to terminate operations. 
 
In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is con-
sidered improbable or remote, no liability is recognized. All provisions and contingent liabilities are reviewed 
at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
 
3.2.20. Significant management judgment in applying accounting policies 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to exercise judgment in 
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and requires the use of accounting estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of financial statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. 
 
The following estimates that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed below: 
 
3.2.20.1 Allowance for trade receivables 
 
Trade receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful 
receivables is the Group’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the Group’s existing ac-
counts receivable. 
 
Management uses judgment to determine the allowance for doubtful receivables which is supported by his-
torical repayment records of the customers. The Group reviews its allowance for doubtful receivables monthly 
or more frequently. Accounts balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection 
have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. Actual results could differ from 
estimates. 
 
3.2.20.2. Deferred tax assets 
 
The assessment of the probability of future taxable income in which deferred tax assets can be utilized is 
based on the Group's latest approved budget forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income 
and expenses and specific limits to the use of any unused tax loss or credit. The tax rules in the jurisdictions in 
which the Group operates are also carefully taken into consideration. If a positive forecast of taxable income 
indicates the probable use of a deferred tax asset, especially when it can be utilized without a time limit, that 
deferred tax asset is usually recognized in full. The recognition of deferred tax assets that are subject to cer-
tain legal or economic limits or uncertainties is assessed individually by management based on the specific 
facts and circumstances. 
 
3.2.20.3. Accruals for sales rebates 
 
Joyou sells a significant portion of its products to independent distributors. To increase the efforts of these 
distributors the Group offers them rebates based on the attainment of agreed upon individual sales targets. 
Once the sales targets have been reached, the rebate for the individual distributor is calculated. 
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3.2.21. Estimation uncertainty 

3.2.21.1. Useful lives of depreciable and amortizable assets 

Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date. The useful life of the 
Group’s intangible assets is to be within 25 to 50 years and property, plant and equipment is to be within 8 to 
25 years. These are common life expectancies applied in sanitary ware industry in the PRC. At 31 December 
2009 management assesses that the useful lives represent the expected utility of the assets to the Group. 
The carrying amounts are analyzed in notes 12 and 13. Actual results, however, may vary due to technical 
obsolescence, particularly relating to software and IT equipment. 

3.2.21.2. Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. In estimating net realizable values, 
management takes into account the most reliable evidence available at the times the estimates are made. 
The Group's core business is subject to raw material price changes and changes in customer behavior which 
may cause selling prices to change rapidly. 

3.2.21.3. Provisions 

The respective legislation in the PRC requires Joyou to commit itself to remediate any environmental dam-
ages which may have been incurred. The Group has made provisions for environmental protection or disposal 
cost as there is currently a legal obligation to dismantle land for future dismantling costs at the time the re-
spective land-use-rights have expired. The amount recognized is the present value of the estimated future 
expenditure determined in accordance with local conditions and requirements. A corresponding item of 
property, plant and equipment of an amount equivalent to the provision is also created. This is subsequently 
depreciated as part of the asset. Other than the unwinding discount on the provision, any change in the pre-
sent value of the estimated expenditure is reflected as an adjustment to the provision and the corresponding 
item of property, plant and equipment. 

As at reporting date, the Group does not recognize provisions for warranties which cover cost of repairs as 
management currently has currently no past experience given the short period of time selling its products to 
distributors in Mainland China and therefore to end-customers. Management has also not been able to de-
velop a reliable estimation of future defects or costs associated with their remediation. The amounts incurrent 
so far are inconsequential so that no provision has been made. However, given the growing number of items 
produced and sold, this may be subject to change. 
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4. Reverse acquisition and transactions under common control 

4.1. Reverse acquisition of Joyou AG 

Joyou AG was incorporated on 30 June 2008 and the incorporation became legally effective on 28 August 
2008 by means of entry on the trade register of the district court of Hamburg, Germany. The company was 
formed with a subscribed capital of EUR 10,000,000.00 which was provided by means of the non-cash con-
tribution of all of the shares of Joyou Hong Kong and is fully contributed. Joyou AG was incorporated on 30 
June 2008 for the purpose of enabling the then existing Joyou Group to obtain a listing on the Regulated 
Market of the German Stock Exchange (Prime Standard). According to IFRS 3, this transaction shall be ac-
counted for as a reverse acquisition – refer to note 3.2.3.2. 

 

Joyou AG was the sole shareholder of Hong Kong Zhongyu Sanitary Technology Limited ("Joyou Hong 
Kong") a limited liability company established under the laws of Hong Kong with business address at Suite 
3104-6, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road; Wan Chai, Hong Kong, Special Administrative Region of the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China, from incorporation until 8 June 2009. The operational business of Joyou is carried out 
by the three operational entities.  

• Quanzhou Joyou Sanitation Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. ("Joyou Sanitation Technology"), registered 
at Quanzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce under the registration number 
350500400011956, with business address at Dayu Street, Luncang Town, Nan'an City, Quanzhou, 
Fujian Province, PRC;  

• Joyou Group Building Materials Co., Ltd. ("Joyou Building Materials"), registered at Quanzhou Admini-
stration for Industry and Commerce under the registration number 350500100005216 with business 
address at Luncang Town, Nan'an City, Fujian Province, PRC; and  

• Nan'an Joyou Galvanization Industrial Co., Ltd. ("Joyou Galvanization"), registered at Nan'an Admini-
stration for Industry and Commerce under the registration number 350583100022678 with business 
address at Dayu Village, Luncang Town, Nan'an City, Fujian Province, PRC.  

 

As at reporting date the sole shareholder of Joyou Galvanization is Joyou Building Materials, the sole 
shareholder of which is Joyou Sanitation Technology, the sole shareholder of which is Joyou Hong Kong.  

The companies fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are listed in the fol-
lowing table: 

 
Name of fully consolidated company Place of business Joyou 

AG’s 
interest 

% 

Hong Kong Zhongyu Sanitary Technology 
Limited 

Hong Kong, Special Administrative Region of 
People's Republic of China 

100.0 

Quanzhou Joyou Sanitation Technology In-
dustrial Co., Ltd. 

Luncang Town, Nan'an City, Quanzhou, Fujian 
Province, People's Republic of China 

100.0 

Joyou Group Building Materials Co., Ltd. Luncang Town, Nan'an City, Fujian Province, 
People's Republic of China 

100.0 

Nan'an Joyou Galvanization Industrial Co., 
Ltd. 

Dayu Village, Luncang Town, Nan'an City, Fu-
jian Province, People's Republic of China 

100.0 

 
It should be noted that the voting power held by Joyou AG for Hong Kong Zhongyu Sanitary Technology 
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Limited is 58.94%. For further details refer to note 3.2.3. 

4.2. Transactions under common control 

4.2.1 Joyou Building Materials acquiring Joyou Galvanization 

The corporate predecessor of Joyou Galvanization, an entity called Nan'an Joyou Galvanization Center, was 
established on 27 November 1996 as a collectively owned enterprise under the laws of the PRC with a reg-
istered capital of RMB 5,280,000. On 26 October 2001 Joyou Galvanization was transformed to a company 
with limited liability with a registered share capital of RMB 15,000,000 which is fully paid in. The current reg-
istered and fully paid in share capital of Joyou Galvanization amounts to RMB 15,000,000. On 22 April 2009 
Joyou Building Materials entered into a share purchase agreement to purchase all of the shares of Joyou 
Galvanization from Mr. Cai Jianshe and Mr. Cai Jiansheng who have been the sole shareholders since 26 
October 2001. The respective transfer of shares was approved by the competent PRC authorities. The pur-
chase price for all shares of Joyou Galvanization amounted to RMB 15,000,000 in cash. The purchase price 
was therefore equal to the current registered and fully paid in share capital of Joyou Galvanization at the 
acquisition date. The share transfer was registered with the Nan'an Administration for Industry and Com-
merce. As Mr. Cai Jianshe and Mr. Cai Jiansheng held 48 and 52% respectively of the shares in Joyou 
Building Materials, this transaction is a transaction between two entities under common control. 

Whether common control exists between family members very much depends on the specific facts and cir-
cumstances. In the case of family members it is unlikely that there will be any written agreement between 
them. However, the influence that normally arises within relationships between ‘close members of the family' 
as defined in IAS 24 means that it is possible, but by no means assured, that an unwritten arrangement may 
exist that they will act collectively such that there is common control, and thus the business combination can 
be considered to be beyond the scope of IFRS 3. In this case, the Cai family, inter alia Mr. Cai Jianshe and Mr. 
Cai Jiansheng, acted – and still acts – with the same common purpose, i.e. establishment of a group structure 
allowing Joyou Group an IPO. 

4.2.2 Joyou Sanitation Technology acquiring Joyou Building Materials 

Joyou Building Materials was established on 7 July 1995. The predecessor of the company, Fujian Nan'an 
Fuxin Water-Warmth Appliances & Material Factory, was established and registered at the Nan'an AIC on 31 
March 1988 as a rural collectively-owned enterprise under the laws of the PRC with a registered capital of 
RMB 1,520,000. On 13 March 2003 the company was restructured from a collectively owned enterprise to a 
limited liability company. The company name was changed to Fujian Joyou Group Co., Ltd. with Mr. Cai Ji-
anshe and Mr. Cai Jiansheng each acquiring 50% of the company's shares. Mr. Cai Jianshe concluded a 
share transfer agreement with Mr. Huang Guo Yuan on 26 December 2003 pursuant to which Mr. Cai Jianshe 
transferred his entire shareholding equaling 50% of the registered capital to Mr. Huang Guo Yuan. At the 
same time, the company increased its registered capital to RMB 101,800,000 which is also the current share 
capital and fully paid in. After this increase in the registered capital, Mr. Cai Jiansheng held 52% of the shares 
of the company equaling RMB 52,936,000 and Mr. Huang Guo Yuan held 48% of the shares of the company, 
equaling RMB 48,864,000. The name of the company was finally changed to Joyou Group Building Materials 
Co., Ltd. on 10 December 2004. On 30 June 2006, Mr. Huang Guo Yuan concluded a share transfer agree-
ment with Mr. Cai Jianshe under which Mr. Huang Guo Yuan transferred his entire shareholding in the com-
pany to Mr. Cai Jianshe. The share transfer was duly registered with the Quanzhou Administration for Indus-
try and Commerce on 7 July 2006.  
 
On 9 May 2008 Joyou Sanitation Technology entered into a share purchase agreement with Mr. Cai Jianshe 
and Mr. Cai Jiansheng to purchase all of the shares of Joyou Building Materials. The transfer of shares was 
approved by the relevant PRC authorities. The purchase price for the holding of 48% of the shares sold by Mr. 
Cai Jianshe amounted to RMB 48,864,000 and the purchase price for the holding of 52% of the shares sold 
by Mr. Cai Jiansheng amounted to RMB 52,936,000. The purchase price was therefore equal to the current 
registered and fully paid in share capital of Joyou Building Materials at the acquisition date. The share transfer 
was registered with the Quanzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce. 
 
The sole shareholder of Quanzhou Joyou Sanitation Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. (formerly “Lota Interna-
tional Co.”) was Hong Kong Lota International Co. whose sole shareholder was Mr. Tsai-Pan Wu, who acted 
as a trustee for Mr. Cai Jianshe and could exercise his shareholder rights only for the benefit of and in ac-
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cordance with instructions from Mr. Cai Jianshe. Therefore, the transaction between Joyou Sanitation Tech-
nology and Joyou Building Materials was a transaction under common control. 

4.2.3 Joyou Hong Kong acquiring Joyou Sanitation Technology 

Joyou Sanitation Technology was established on 11 April 1991 with the name Nan'an Lota Waterpipes & 
Hardwares Industrial Co., Ltd. under the laws of the PRC with a registered share capital of RMB 3,000,000 
which was fully paid in. Initially the company was a so-called sino-foreign equity joint venture with two 
shareholders, i.e. Hong Kong Lota International Co., a company with limited liability registered in Hong Kong, 
and Fujian Nan'an Dayu Waterpipes Factory, an enterprise existing under the laws of the PRC. On 21 May 
2003, Fujian Nan'an Dayu Waterpipes Factory transferred its entire equity interests in Joyou Sanitation 
Technology to Hong Kong Lota International Co. and as a result Joyou Sanitation Technology was trans-
formed from a Sino-foreign equity joint venture into a wholly foreign owned enterprise. The sole shareholder 
of Hong Kong Lota International Co. was Mr. Tsai-Pan Wu, who acted as a trustee for Mr. Cai Jianshe and 
could exercise his shareholder rights only for the benefit of and in accordance with instructions from Mr. Cai 
Jianshe. 
 
Joyou Hong Kong was established on 4 August 2006 as Goodmark International Enterprise Limited as a 
company with limited liability under the laws of Hong Kong. The company was incorporated as a shell com-
pany with an issued share capital of HKD 100 divided into 100 ordinary shares and did not carry out any op-
erative business. On 4 February 2009 Mr. Cai Jianshe acquired 90 shares in the company, representing 90% 
of the share capital and Mr. Cai Jiansheng and Mr. Cai Jilin each acquired 5 shares in the company, repre-
senting 5% of the share capital of the company respectively. On the same day the company changed its 
name to its current name.  
 
On 2 March 2008 Joyou Hong Kong entered into a share purchase agreement with Hong Kong Lota Interna-
tional Co. to purchase all of the shares in the company. The purchase price for all of the shares was USD 1.00. 
The name of the company was changed to Quanzhou Joyou Sanitation Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. on 
8 April 2009. The current registered share capital of the Company is USD 28,000,000 of which            
USD 27,974,015.86 has been paid in. 
 
Joyou Hong Kong was – and still is – controlled by the Cai family. The purchase price agreed upon for the 
entire shares in Joyou Sanitation Technology was not the fair market value and underlines that the transac-
tion has been carried out as transaction under common control. Consequently, the transaction between Hong 
Kong Lota International Co. and Joyou Hong Kong must be seen as a transaction between entities under 
common control. 

5. Segment reporting 

Management currently identifies the Group's six product categories as operating segments as further de-
scribed in note 3.2.5. These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made on the basis 
of segmental gross margins. 
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The gross profit disclosed in the segment reporting equals the segment operating profit. 
 
 
The Group’s revenues from external customers are divided into the following geographical areas: 

 

Revenues from external customers in the Group’s economic domicile, PRC, have been identified on the basis 
of the internal reporting system, which is also used for VAT purposes.  

During 2009 kEUR 11,652 or 7 % of the groups’ revenues depended on a single customer. 
 
Domestic means sales to customers located in the PRC. Export indirectly means sales to domestic customers 
where Joyou believes those customers to finally export Joyou´s parts or products. Finally, export directly 
means sales to customers located outside the PRC, i.e. rest of the world. 
 

The totals presented for the Group’s operating segments reconcile to the Group’s key financial figures as 
presented in the financial statements as follows: 
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Notes to the statement of comprehensive income 
 
 
6. Revenue and income 
 

 
Sale of goods represents the invoiced amount of delivered goods net of discounts, returns and value added 
tax. All intra-group transactions are excluded from the revenue of the consolidated group. For further details 
on revenue refer to note 5. 
 
 
7. Cost of sales 
 
Cost of sales comprise of purchasing copper, zinc, other metals and other parts, labor costs for personnel 
employed in production, depreciation and amortization of non-current assets used for production purposes, 
trading goods and others (mainly utilities and maintenance costs). 
 
The following table shows a breakdown of cost of sales for the period under review for each category: 
 

 
Other parts comprises components made of plastic rubber and finished goods such as shower heads. 
Overheads / Other includes mainly costs for public utilities, maintenance cost and amortization of land use 
rights for land being used for production. 
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8. Selling and distribution expenses 
 
Selling and distribution expenses comprise advertising costs, port fees, exhibition expenses (expenses in-
curred in connection with the participation at trade fairs), expenses for the annual distributor summit (including 
annual sales meeting, training, seminar, and sales awards), benefits to distributors relating to the decoration 
of point of sales, business travel expenses and labor costs for employees engaged in the sales and marketing 
department. 
 
 
9. Administrative expenses 
 
Administrative expenses comprise, among others, salaries of management and other employees with ad-
ministrative functions (including social insurance payments starting in 2009), travel expenses and allowances 
for bad debt. 
 

10. Other operating expenses  

 

 
11. Operating profit 
 

 
 

The amortization charge in respect of intangible assets and the depreciation charge on property, plant and 
equipment are principally charged to cost of sales. 
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Notes to the consolidated statement of financial position 
 
 
12. Intangible assets 
 
The Group's other intangible assets comprise acquired software licenses and land-use-rights in the PRC. The 
carrying amounts for the reporting periods under review can be analysed as follows: 
 

 
 
As at 31 December 2009, land use rights with a total carrying value of kEUR 9,898 (31 December 2008: 
kEUR 10,767) are subject to a first charge to secure the Group’s bank loan. The cost of pledges is 
kEUR 10,553 (31 December 2008: kEUR 10,867) and the related amortization is kEUR 655. 
 
As at 31 December 2009, the total amount for land use rights includes prepayments being made for the 
transfer land use rights of kEUR 12.658 (previous year: kEUR 9,267); the transfer is expected to become 
legally effective in the middle of 2010 at the latest. 
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13. Property, plant and equipment  
 
The Group's property, plant and equipment comprise buildings, machinery, office equipment, motor vehicles 
and construction in progress. The carrying amount can be analysed as follows: 
 

 
 
As at 31 December 2009, buildings with total carrying values of kEUR 13,080 (31 December 2008: 11,250) 
are subject to a first charge to secure the group’s bank loans. The cost of pledges is kEUR 14,159 (31 De-
cember 2008: kEUR 11,829), accumulated depreciation is kEUR 1,079 (31 December 2008: kEUR 579). 
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14. Financial assets and liabilities 
 
14.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 
 

 
 

 
 
See note 3.2.12 for a description of the accounting policies for each category of financial instruments. The fair 
values and a description of the group’s risk management objectives and policies for financial instruments is 
given in note 29. 
 
14.2 Preferred shares 
 
On 8 June 2009, Joyou Hong Kong made a capital increase creating new ordinary and Preferred Shares (the 
“Series A Preferred shares”). The share capital of Joyou Hong Kong was increased by HKD 9,900.00 to HKD 
10,000.00. Of the new total shares, HKD 8,421 were allotted to Joyou AG and HKD 1,479 Preferred Shares – 
the so-called Series A Preferred Shares – to two investors. Consequently, the voting rights of Joyou AG in 
Joyou Hong Kong have been reduced to 85.21%, with two investors having voting rights of 14.79%. The 
amount due from the investors was kEUR 8,418 or kRMB 80,000. As the Preferred Shares qualify as a fi-
nancial liability and the investors have no direct interest in equity, no non-controlling interest has been 
ac-counted for. For accounting purposes, the shareholding of Joyou AG in Joyou Hong Kong is deemed to be 
100%. 
 
Prior to the capital increase, the investors had granted loans to Mr. Cai Jianshe amounting to kEUR 8,161 or 
kRMB 80,000. The proceeds had been used by Mr. Cai Jianshe to grant loans (the “shareholder loans”) to 
Joyou Hong Kong or other Joyou Group companies with the rights of being transferred to Joyou Hong Kong 
after its acquisition by the Cai family in February 2008. As agreed upon between all parties, the amounts due 
from the investors and the amounts due from Joyou Hong Kong to Mr. Cai Jianshe were settled by setting off 
these amounts from each other. 
 
The rights of shareholders of Series A Preferred Shares include various preferential rights compared to the 
ordinary shareholders. Those rights include various redemption rights being based on lapse of time and/or 
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occurrence of certain triggering events, a fixed cumulative preferential dividend and a conversion right into 
ordinary shares. Consequently, the Series A Preferred Shares are a compound financial instrument with split 
accounting to be applied.  
 
According to IAS 39.43, when the Series A Preferred Shares were recognized initially, Joyou had to measure 
those Preferred Shares at their fair value using a market interest rate for equivalent Preferred Shares without 
a conversion right. This market interest rate was determined to be 15% reflecting the prevailing rate of return 
for comparable financial instruments in the Hong Kong market. Due to the terms and conditions of the finan-
cial liability component of the Preferred Shares, the fair value of the conversion right and therefore the equity 
component was kEUR 595. The initial fair value of kEUR 595 led to a deferred tax liability of kEUR 84 which 
was posted to equity (capital reserves).  
 
The initial fair value of the financial liability component is subsequently recorded as a liability on an amortized 
cost basis until extinguished on conversion into ordinary shares or redemption of the Preferred Shares. 
Dividends on these Preferred Shares are recognized in the statement of income as interest expense. The 
deferred tax asset is amortized accordingly to the interest being expensed for said liability. 
 
On 16 October 2009, Joyou Hong Kong made another capital increase creating new Preferred Shares – the 
so-called Series B Preferred Shares. The share capital was increased from kHKD 10 to kHKD 250 comprising 
of 19,063,000 Ordinary Shares of which 8,521,000 are issued and held by Joyou AG, 1,479,000 Series A 
Preferred Shares and 4,458,000 Series B Preferred Shares. As part of the issue of the Series B Preferred 
Shares the senior and guaranteed loan issued on 25 May 2009 by Joyou Hong Kong was converted into 
1,148,000 shares. Furthermore, the terms and conditions of Series A Preferred Shares have been amended; 
consequently Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares have, in general, equal terms and 
conditions. The new Preferred Shares have been divided into two subgroups, Series B1 Preferred Shares 
with 3,310,000 shares and Series B2 Preferred Shares with 1,148,000 shares. However, the Series B1 Pre-
ferred Shares have senior rights to those of Series B2 Preferred Shares and Series A Preferred Shares, i.e. 
their rights must be met before the rights of Series B2 Preferred Shares and Series A Preferred Shares are 
fulfilled. For accounting purposes, the implications for the Series A Preferred Shares also apply to the Series 
B Preferred Shares. According to IAS 39.43, when the Series B Preferred Shares were recognized initially, 
Joyou had to measure those Preferred Shares at their fair value using a market interest rate for equivalent 
Preferred Shares without a conversion right. This market interest rate was determined to be 27% for Preferred 
B Shares, reflecting the prevailing rate of return for comparable financial instruments in the Hong Kong mar-
ket. As the terms and conditions of the Series A Preferred Shares have been amended as described, the fair 
value of the liability component of said Preferred Shares had to be recalculated on 16 October 2009 taking 
those new terms and conditions into consideration while using the same interest rate as applied for calculat-
ing the fair value of the Preferred B Shares. As at balance sheet date the fair value of Series A Preferred 
Shares amounts to kEUR 9,041 and of Series B Preferred Shares to kEUR 33.433. 
 
14.3 Short-term loans 
 
Short-term loans include the following financial liabilities: 
 

 
Management considers the carrying amounts recognized in the statement of financial position to be a rea-
sonable approximation of their fair value. 
 
All short-term loans are denominated in Chinese RMB. 
 
Bank loans are secured by land use rights and property, plant and equipment owned by the Group (see notes 
12 and 13) as well as guarantees granted by related parties (see note 27.3.4). Current interest rates are fixed 
and average 5.50 % (previous year: 8.16 %). 
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15. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
Deferred taxes arising from temporary differences can be summarised as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
All deferred tax assets have been recognised in the statement of financial position. 
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16. Inventories 
 
Inventories recognised in the statement of financial position can be analysed as follows: 
 

 
 
In the twelve months ended 31 December 2009, a total of kEUR 112,942 (31 December 2008: kEUR 34,273) 
of inventories was included in profit and loss as an expense. This includes an amount of kEUR nil (31 De-
cember 2008: kEUR 170) resulting from write down of inventories. 
 
 
17. Trade and other receivables 
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Trade receivables 
 
All trade receivables are current and non-interest bearing. They are recognized at their original invoice 
amounts that represent their fair values on initial recognition. The aging as follows: 
 

 
Deferred IPO costs 
 
The deferred IPO costs will be deducted from new equity gained from the intended issue of new shares as 
part of Joyou’s expected IPO in Germany in 2010. 
 
Amounts due from related parties 
 
Amounts due from related parties are set out in more detail in note 27.2.  
 
Allowance for doubtful receivables 
 
For each financial period, the following amounts of impairment loss are recognized in the statement of com-
prehensive income. 
 

 
 
Trade receivables are adjusted for impairment on the basis of their age. Balances aged between one and 
three months are written down by one percent, whilst those of age between three and six months are written 
down by 5%. A 50% allowance is made against balances with an age of between six months and one year, 
whilst all balances over one year old are provided against in full. 
 
Other receivables are written down for impairment using management judgement, based on the nature of the 
balance and its age. Specifically, all advances to suppliers in excess of one year old are written down in full. 
 
Net gains and losses on loans and receivables amounted to a net loss of kEUR 830 (period ended 31 De-
cember 2008: kEUR 734). 
 
The Group does not hold any collateral as security. 
 
Management considers the carrying amounts recognized in the statement of financial position to be a rea-
sonable approximation of their fair value due to the short duration. 
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18. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include the following components:  
 

 
For the purpose of providing security on the issue of loan notes, the Group is required to deposit cash into 
restricted accounts with its banks. Cash and cash equivalents inaccessible to the Group as at 31 December 
2009 amounts to kEUR 22,009 (31 December 2008: kEUR 11,419). The restrictions on bank deposits are 
normally removed on settlement of the underlying notes. 
 
 
19. Capital and reserves 
 
19.1 Share capital – Joyou AG 
 
The Company was incorporated on 30 June 2008 and the incorporation became legally effective on 28 Au-
gust 2008 by means of entry on the trade register of the district court of Hamburg, Germany. The company 
was formed with a subscribed capital of EUR 10,000,000.00, which is divided into 10,000,000 bearer shares 
without nominal value (nil-par shares), having a proportional amount of the subscribed capital of EUR 1.00 
each. The subscribed capital was provided by means of the non-cash contribution of all of the shares of Joyou 
Hong Kong and is fully paid up. The shares all have equal rights pertaining to voting and dividends. 
 
The executive board is authorized, in the period until 30 June 2013, to increase the subscribed capital of 
Joyou AG, with the agreement of the supervisory board, once or more than once, by up to EUR 5,000,000, via 
the issue of up to 5,000,000 new nil-par bearer shares, for cash or non-cash consideration (genehmigtes 
Kapital). Equity or non-voting preference shares may be issued in each case. Further, the executive board is 
authorized, in each case with the agreement of the supervisory board, to decide upon the exclusion of the 
pre-emptive rights of the shareholders. However, the exclusion of pre-emptive rights is only permissible in 
accordance with the terms set out in the articles of association, this includes, inter alia, the introduction of the 
shares of Joyou AG to stock exchanges within or outside of Germany, on which the shares of the company up 
until that time are not authorized for trading.  
 
In the twelve month period to 31 December 2009, no capital increases were resolved from this authorized 
capital. The authorized capital as at 31 December 2009 amounts to EUR 5,000,000.00. 
 
19.2 Capital reserves  
 
The capital reserves as at beginning of the accounting period 2009 are those of Joyou Hong Kong and were 
created by a series of transactions between parties under common control, the equity component on Pre-
ferred Shares; see note 4 and 14.2 for further details thereon and in respect of share capital related to em-
ployee share-based payment (see note 22.2). 
 
19.3 Statutory reserves 
 
Joyou AG is required to transfer 5% of the profit after tax as reported in its German statutory financial state-
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ments to statutory reserves (section 150 paragraph 2 of the German Stock Corporation Law), until this re-
serve together with the capital reserve attain at least 10% of the share capital. Under certain circumstances 
this reserve may be used to make up losses incurred or be converted into paid up capital, as long as the re-
serves amount to at least 10% of the share capital. The statutory reserve of Joyou AG amounts to EUR Nil at 
31 December 2009.  
 
According to the Group Law of PRC, companies operating in China are required to transfer 10% of the profit 
after tax as reported in their PRC statutory financial statements to the statutory common reserve fund in each 
year, unless this reserve has reached 50% of the company’s registered capital. This reserve can be used to 
make up for any losses incurred or be converted into paid-up capital, provided that the reserve does not fall 
below 25% of the registered capital. The statutory reserve of the PRC companies amounts to kEUR 3,012 at 
31 December 2009. 
 
19.4 Currency translation reserve 
 
The currency translation reserve represents the foreign currency translation differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements from RMB to EUR. 
 
19.5 Retained earnings 
 
The retained earnings reserve comprises the cumulative net gains and losses recognized in the Group’s 
statement of comprehensive income. As at 31 August 2008, the retained earnings are exclusively those of 
Joyou Hong Kong Group and were created by a series of transactions between parties under common control: 
see note 4 for further details thereon. 
 
 
20. Trade, Note and other payables 
 
20.1. Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables recognised in the statement of financial position can be analysed as follows: 
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Trade payables 
 
All trade payables are non-interest bearing.  
 
Advances from customers 
 
Advances from customers relate to prepayments for future deliveries of sanitary products. 
 
Amounts due to related parties 
 
The amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand. These amounts 
are unsecured and are to be settled in cash. 
 
Due to their short duration, management considers the carrying amounts of trade and other payables recog-
nized in the statement of financial position to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value. 
 
20.2. Note payables 
 
Note payables refer to acceptances of suppliers. 
 
 
21. Other provisions 
 
All provisions are considered non current and relate to costs for dismantling buildings and fixtures constructed 
on land for which the rights of usage have a fixed term and for potential payments under an advisory agree-
ment. 
 
Joyou makes full provision for the future cost of decommissioning plants on a discounted basis on the con-
struction of those plants. The provision for the cost of decommissioning these production facilities at the end 
of the useful live of the land-use-rights on which the plants have been erected has been estimated using ex-
isting technology in China, current prices and discounted using a discount rate of 6%. These costs are gen-
erally expected to be incurred over the next 25 to 50 years. While the provision is based on the best estimate 
of future costs and the contractually secured useful life of land-use-rights, there is uncertainty regarding both 
the amount and timing of incurring these cost. The carrying amounts may be analyzed as follows: 
 
A provision of kEUR 500 has been made for potential payments to a financial advisor claiming advisory fees 
for certain funds being raised by Joyou Hong Kong in 2009. Although the financial advisor did not fulfil all 
obligations under existing binding contracts, management cannot exclude that at least a portion of the con-
tractually agreed upon advisory fees for all services needs to be paid for those obligations which have been 
fulfilled by the financial advisor. The outcome of future proceedings cannot be predicted. It is therefore pos-
sible that legal or regulatory judgments could give rise to expenses that are not covered, or not fully covered 
by said provision. However, the chairman of the board of management of Joyou AG and major shareholder of 
Joyou AG, Mr. Cai Jianshe, has guaranteed to Joyou that he will reimburse Joyou in respect of any payments 
to be made to the financial advisor. Therefore, Joyou has recognized an asset of kEUR 500, i.e. equal to the 
provision being made, for the expected reimbursement by Mr. Cai Jianshe which is disclosed under the line 
item “Amounts due from related parties” as described in Note 27.2. 
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22. Employee remuneration 
 
22.1 Employee benefits expense 
 
Expenses recognized for employee benefits are analyzed below: 
 

 
 
The employee payroll costs can be allocated as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The employee social insurance costs can be allocated as follows: 
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The analysis of the average employee numbers of the group is as follows: 
 

 
 
22.2 Retirement benefit plans 
 
The eligible employees of the Group - who are citizens of the PRC - are members of a state-managed re-
tirement benefit scheme operated by the local government. The Group is required to contribute a certain 
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of 
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions. 
 
 
23. Finance income and finance costs 
 
Finance income may be analysed as follows for the reporting periods presented:  
 

 
 
Finance costs may be analysed as follows for the reporting periods presented: 
 

 
 
Impairments of trade receivables have been included within other expenses in the statement of comprehen-
sive income. Impairment of financial assets are further analysed in Note 17 and Note 29.2. 
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24. Taxation  
 
24.1 Major components of income tax expense 
 
The amount of taxation charged to the statement of comprehensive income represents: 
 

 
 
24.2 Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit 
 
Reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting (loss)/profit multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate is as follows: 
 

 
 
Deferred tax assets in respect of deductible tax losses in the amount of kEur 1.807 were not recognized as an 
asset due to their expiry as a result of the intended IPO in 2010. 
 
Applicable tax rate 
 
Joyou AG 
 
In Germany, Joyou is subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 15% plus a 5.5% solidarity surcharge (Soli-
daritätszuschlag) thereon (in total 15.825%). In addition, Joyou AG is subject to trade tax (Gewerbesteuer) with 
their income subject to certain adjustments for trade tax purposes. The trade tax depends on the municipalities 
in which the corporation maintains permanent establishments. As at 31 December 2009, the effective trade tax 
rate for Hamburg is 16.45 % of the trade taxable income (Gewerbeertrag). Dividend income that Joyou AG re-
ceives from corporations domiciled outside Germany such as Joyou Hong Kong is generally exempt from cor-
porate income tax. However, 5% of the tax exempt dividend income is deemed to be a non-deductible business 
expense for corporate income tax purposes, and as a result is subject to corporate income tax (plus solidarity 
surcharge). Dividend income of Joyou AG derived from its shares in Joyou Hong Kong will also be subject to 
trade tax. However, such dividend income of the Company will be exempt from trade tax but for 5%, if specific 
preconditions are fulfilled (Section 9 No. 7 of the German Trade Tax Act, Section 8 Paragraph 1 No 1-6 German 
Foreign Tax Act). 
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As the Company did not have assessable profits during the accounting period ended 31 December 2009, no 
German corporate income taxes have been provided for. Although management assumes that Joyou AG will 
generate future taxable profits through dividend and interest income in order to be able to fully utilize these and 
prior period tax losses, no deferred tax asset has been provided for the tax losses carried forward as the timing 
of the utilization is uncertain and the taxable profits through dividend are limited to 5% of the tax exempt divi-
dend income. Furthermore, tax loss carry forwards will be forfeited completely in the event that more than 50% 
of the share capital, participation rights or voting rights of the Company are directly or indirectly transferred 
within 5 years to one acquirer or a related person hereto or a group of acquirers with same interests or any 
comparable circumstances of the case. If more than 25% and up to 50% are transferred the tax loss carry for-
wards will be forfeited proportionally. 
 
Joyou Hong Kong 
 
Since incorporation the taxable profits of Joyou Hong Kong are determined by reference to the accounting profit, 
adjusted for non-deductible items. The applicable rate is 16.5%, in accordance with Hong Kong tax law. 
 
PRC subsidiaries 
 
From 1 January 2009 onwards, the taxable profits of the PRC subsidiaries were determined by reference to the 
accounting profit, adjusted for non-deductible items. The applicable rate is 25%, in accordance with Chinese 
national tax law.  
 
 
 
 
24.3 Income Tax payable 
 
Taxation payable in the statement of financial position represents: 
 

 
 
25. Earnings per share and dividends 
 
25.1 Earnings per share 
 
The basic earnings per share have been calculated using the profit attributable to shareholders of Joyou AG 
(the legal parent) as the numerator. The adjustments to profit necessary for calculating the diluted earnings 
per share are described below. 
 
The weighted average number of outstanding shares used for basic earnings per share for the twelve 
month period ended 31 December 2009 amounted to 10,000,000 shares. The weighted average number of 
outstanding shares used was calculated on basis of the number of ordinary shares of Joyou AG (the legal 
acquiror) issued to the owner of the Joyou Hong Kong (the legal subsidiary). 
 
For the calculation of diluted earnings per share of Joyou AG for the twelve month period ended 31 De-
cember 2009, diluted earnings per share had to be calculated for Joyou Hong Kong first. Potential ordinary 
shares shall only be treated as dilutive when, and only when, their conversion to ordinary shares would de-
crease earnings per share or increase loss per share from continuing operations. On 8 June 2009 Joyou 
Hong Kong issued 1,479,000 Series A preference shares and on 16 October 2009 4,458,000 Series B pre-
ference shares - see note 29 - which can be converted into ordinary shares of Joyou Hong Kong. Once con-
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verted into ordinary shares of Joyou Hong Kong, they would decrease earnings per share of Joyou AG. 
Therefore, the diluted earnings per share for Joyou Hong Kong have been calculated as if they have been 
converted 1:1 into ordinary shares giving a total diluted number of ordinary shares of Joyou Hong Kong of 
14,458,000. Thereafter, the diluted earnings per share of Joyou Hong Kong were allocated to the diluted 
number of ordinary shares of Joyou Hong Kong attributable to Joyou AG, i.e. 8,521,000 ordinary shares. The 
so diluted profit attributable to shareholders of Joyou AG was divided by Joyou AG’s 10,000,000 ordinary 
shares.  
 
The amounts used as the numerators in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share are reconciled to the 
profit or loss attributable to the parent entity for the period as follows: 
 
Reconciliation of profit and loss Twelve months 

period ended  
31 December 2009 

Four months 
period ended 31 
December 2008 

 kEUR kEUR 
   
Profit for the period (Joyou AG) 22,262 4,197 
Adjustments at the level of Joyou Hong Kong:   

Interest on preferences shares and convertible 
bond (net of tax) 

21 0 

Non-controlling interest (9,098) (2,400) 
Profit after adjustments (Joyou AG) 13,185 1,797 
    
The weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share can be reconciled to 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as fol-
lows: 
 
Amounts in thousand shares Twelve  

months period 
ended 31 De-
cember 2009 

Four months 
period 

ended 31 
December 

2008 
   
Weighted average number of shares used in basic 
earnings per share (Joyou AG) 

 
10,000,000 

 
10,000,000 

Adjustments at the level of Joyou Hong Kong:   
Ordinary shares attributable to Joyou AG 8,521,000 8,521,000 
Potential ordinary shares attributable to 
non-controlling interest 

 
5,937,000 

 
5,937,000 

 
In the first quarter 2010 Joyou AG, Joyou Hong Kong, the Initial Shareholders, the Joyou Hong Kong Inves-
tors, and certain companies designated by the Joyou Hong Kong Investors intend to execute an agreement 
(the "Restructuring Agreement") according to which the Joyou Hong Kong Investors will restructure their in-
vestment from the level of Joyou Hong Kong to the level of Joyou AG (the "Corporate Restructuring"). 
 
In the Restructuring Agreement, the parties have agreed that the Joyou Hong Kong Investors will transfer all 
their shares in Joyou Hong Kong to Joyou AG against issuance of new shares in Joyou AG to the Joyou Hong 
Kong Investors or all companies designated by the Joyou Hong Kong Investors. The Restructuring Agree-
ment stipulates that a capital increase against contributions in kind (Sachkapitalerhöhung) will be carried out 
at Joyou AG (the "Restructuring Capital Increase") which is to become effective at the latest as of the day of 
admission of the Company's shares to trading on the Frankfurt Stock exchange. The Restructuring Capital 
Increase is expected to be resolved upon during the General Meeting of shareholders of Joyou AG that also 
resolves upon the IPO Capital Increase. The Joyou Hong Kong Investors will contribute all their shares in 
Joyou Hong Kong to Joyou AG so that after the Corporate Restructuring Joyou AG will be the holder of 100% 
of the shares (including ordinary shares and preference shares) of Joyou Hong Kong. As consideration for the 
contribution of all their shares in Joyou Hong Kong by the Joyou Hong Kong Investors, Joyou AG will issue 
new shares to Bathware Limited, Grohe Holding GmbH, PreIPO and four companies designated by PreIPO 
and MIC being Star Elite, PreIPO International, Poly Gain and Prime Standard Holdings (these four com-
panies designated by PreIPO and MIC together the "Designees"), so that after the Corporate Restructuring, 
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the Joyou Hong Kong Investors and the Designees (together the "Joyou AG Investors") will hold approxi-
mately the same percentage of shares in Joyou AG as the Joyou Hong Kong Investors previously held in 
Joyou Hong Kong. 
 
 
 
25.2 Dividends 
 
The parent company Joyou AG is a holding company without any significant operating business of its own. 
The group’s assets are largely located in China. Current PRC regulations permit the payment of dividends 
only out of accumulated profits determined in accordance with Chinese accounting standards and regulations. 
In addition, a subsidiary of the Company, if it constitutes a foreign-invested entity under PRC law, is required 
to set aside at least 10% of its after-tax profits each year to fund a statutory reserve fund until such reserves in 
aggregate reach 50% of its registered capital. Furthermore, foreign-invested entities may be required to set 
aside a portion of their after-tax profits to fund an employee welfare fund in an amount which lies within the 
discretion of the subsidiary's board. These reserves are not distributable as cash dividends. 
 
Under PRC foreign exchange rules and regulations, payments of current account items, including profit dis-
tributions and operating-related expenditures, may be made in foreign currencies without prior approval but 
are subject to procedural requirements. Strict foreign exchange controls continue to apply to capital account 
transactions. These transactions must be approved by and/or registered with the State Administration of 
Foreign Exchange or its local counterparts, and repayment of loan principal, distribution of return on direct 
capital investment and investments in negotiable instruments are also subject to restrictions. 
 
There can be no assurance that Joyou will be able to meet all of its foreign currency obligations under PRC 
laws or to remit profits out of China. Should any of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company be, or become, re-
stricted and/or legally prohibited from and/or unable to pay dividends or other distributions outside of China, 
this could have material adverse effects on the group’s financial condition. 
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26. Cash flow adjustments and changes in working capital 
 
The following non-cash flow adjustments and adjustments for changes in working capital have been made to 
profit before tax to arrive at operating cash flow:  
 

 
 
 
 
27. Related party disclosures 
 
An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Group for the purposes of the financial statements if: 
(i) it possesses the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or exercise significant influence over the operating 
and financial decision of the Group or vice versa; or (ii) it is subject to common control or common significant 
influence.  
 
27.1 Related party information 
 
Joyou Group companies entered into several transactions with related parties. Related parties to the Com-
pany include members of the Management Board including their close family members and companies over 
which members of the Management Board or Supervisory Board of the Company or their family members can 
exercise considerable influence or hold a substantial amount of the voting rights. In addition, related parties 
include companies in which the Company holds an investment, which enables the Company to exercise 
considerable influence over the business policies of the company in which it holds such investment, as well as 
the major shareholders of the Company, including their affiliates. Set forth below is an overview of the parties 
related to Joyou Group as well as a summary of the material transactions between Joyou Group and related 
parties concluded in the accounting period between 01 January 2009 and 31 December 2009. 
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The following persons and entities are considered to be related parties:  
 

Related Party Type of business Business scope of the 
licence 

Relation to Joyou 

    
• Nan'an Zhongyu Hard-
ware Industrial Co., Ltd. 

No material actual busi-
ness activity 

Manufacturing water 
faucets, valves, sanitary 
hardware and galvaniza-
tion 

46.42% of the shares are 
held by Mr. Wang 
Zhiqiang 

Nanan Zhongyu Copper 
Co. Ltd 

No material actual busi-
ness activity 

Manufacturing copper of 
water faucets, copper 
sticks and zins metal 
parts 

48% of the shares are 
held by Mr. Wang 
Zhiqiang 

Quanzhou X-time Op-
toelectronics Technology 
Co. Ltd 

No material actual busi-
ness activity 

Manufacturing and de-
signing, selling sanitary 
ware, hardware 

48% of the shares are 
held by Mr. Cai Kaifang 

Nan'an Longsheng Sci-
ence and Technology 
Industry Co., Ltd. 

No actual business ac-
tivity 

Manufacturing and sell-
ing sanitary ware, hard-
ware and the consulting 
design of sensor faucets 
and temperature con-
trolled faucets 

65% of the shares are 
held by Ms. Zhou Jiaping 

Nan'an Pengxin Copper 
Co., Ltd. 

Investment property Manufacturing and sell-
ing copper pipes, copper 
bars, copper pipes of 
water faucets and hard-
ware 

The shares are held by 
Ms. Chen Caifen (48%) 
and Mr. Wang Jinsheng 
(52%) 

 
 

Related party Relation to Joyou 
  
Mr. Cai Jianshe Chairman of the board of Directors (Vorstandsvorsitzender), Shareholder holding 

87.3% of the company’s shares 
Mr. Cai Jiansheng Member of the supervisory board (Aufsichtsratsmitglied), Shareholder holding 5% 

of the company’s shares 
Mr. Cai Jilin Member of the board of Directors (Vorstandsmitglied), Shareholder holding 5% of 

the company’s shares 
Mr. Zhou Jiaping The wife of Mr. Cai Jilin 
Mr. Cai Kaifang A son of Mr. Cai Jianshe 
Ms. Chen Caifen The wife of Mr. Cai Kaifang 
Mr. Wang Jinsheng A cousin of Mr. Cai Jilin 
Mr. Wang Zhiqiang A cousin of Mr. Cai Jilin 
Ms. Hong Jinyun The wife of Mr. Cai Jinsheng 
Ms. Wan Liqin The wife of Mr. Cai Jianshe 
Mr. Huang Guoynan The brother-in-law of Mr. Cai Jianshe 
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27.2 Transactions and amounts due from/to related parties 
 
There were no sales or purchases transacted with related parties during the period under review. 
 
The composition of the amounts due from related parties is as follows: 
 
 

 
As at 31 December 2008, the amounts due from related parties mainly contain short term clearing accounts 
and loans due from Nan'An Pengxin Copper Co. Ltd. in connection with the restructuring of the land and 
factory properties (parts of the property under construction (the "new factory") transferred to this related 
company).  
 
The composition of the amounts due to related parties is as follows: 
 

 
 
Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no guaran-
tees were given or received. Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash. 
 
27.3 Transactions with key management personnel 
 
The following individuals served as key management personnel of Joyou AG during the four months to 31 
December 2009: 
 
27.3.1 Directors of Joyou AG 
 
Mr Jianshe Cai, businessman, Fujian Province, PRC, Chairman,  
Mr Jilin Cai, businessman, Fujian Province, PRC, 
Mr Gang Zheng, businessman, Shanghai, PRC (appointed 17 November 2009), 
Mr Zufang Li, businessman, Fujian Province, PRC (appointed 17 November 2009) 
 
27.3.2 Supervisory Board Members 
 
Mr. Johnny Chen, financial consultant, Shanghai PRC, Chairman, 
Mr. Jiansheng Cai, businessman, Fujian Province PRC, Deputy Chairman (from 2 November 2009), 
Mr. Li Ho Tan, financial consultant, Fujian Province, PRC 
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27.3.3 Key management remuneration 
 

 
 
As at December 2009 the Group maintained one equity settled share-based payment for employee remu-
neration. This program is part of the remuneration package of the financial officer. For options granted to vest, 
the financial officer has to remain employed for the agreed vesting period of 5 years. Upon vesting, each op-
tion allows the holder to purchase up to 0.5% of the total number of shares in Joyou AG in three tranches 
before the Offering from Mr Cai Jianshe. One ordinary share is valued at a purchase price equal to the offer 
price of Joyou AG shares achieved in Joyou AG’s intended IPO at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange at grant date. 
The share based remuneration will be settled by shares delivered by Mr. Jianshe Cai. The Group has no legal 
or constructive obligation to issue new shares on the stock option program and any obligation to repurchase 
or settle the options. 
 
In the accounting period Mr. Cai grant options of 50,000 shares to the financial officer. 
 
The fair value of options granted were determined using a variation of the binominal pricing model that takes 
into account factors specific to the share incentive plan, such as the vesting period. The total shareholder 
return performance condition has been incorporated into the measurement by means of actual modeling. The 
following principal assumptions were used in the valuation: 
 
Grant date  November 2009 
Vesting period ends  November 2014 
Share price at date of grant 17,00 (estimated IPO offer price) 
Volatility 40,0 % 
Option life 3 years 
Dividend yield 17,5 % 
Risk-free investment rate 1,50 % – 2,29 % 
Fair value at grant date kEur 302 
 
Exercisable from / to end of vesting period 
Weighted average remaining 
 contractual life 4 years 11 months 
 
The underlying expected volatility was determined by 40,0 %. No special features inherent to the options 
granted were incorporated into measurement of fair value. 
 
In total kEUR. 15 of employee remuneration expense (all of which equity-settled shared based payment 
transactions) has been included in profit or loss for 2009 (previous year: nil) and credited to capital surplus. 
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27.3.4 Credit guarantees 
 
Related parties have provided guarantees for certain of Joyou Building Material's bank loans: 

•  Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd., Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng, Ms. Hong Jinyun 
and Ms. Wang Liqin provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 40,000,000 to 
secure four loans from Huaxia Bank Fuzhou Branch ("HX Bank") in the total amount of RMB 
40,000,000, of which one loan of RMB 15,000,000 with a term from 23 October 2007 to 23 October 
2009 is additionally secured by three mortgages established by Nan'an Zhongyu Copper Co., Ltd., Fu-
jian Nan'an Pengyin Copper Co., Ltd and Joyou Building Materials itself. The guarantee was provided 
to secure loans taken out by Joyou Building Materials from HX Bank from 18 September 2007 to 
18 September 2009. The said loans have been repaid. 

• Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd., Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng and Mr. Cai Jilin 
provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 40,000,000 to secure three loans 
taken out by Joyou Building Materials from Huaxia Bank Fuzhou Branch Mindu Sub-branch in the total 
amount of RMB 30,000,000, of which one loan of RMB 8,500,000 with a term of 27 October 2009 to 27 
October 2010 is additionally secured by a mortgage established by Joyou Building Materials itself. The 
guarantee was provided to secure loans taken out by Joyou Building Materials from Huaxia Bank 
Fuzhou Branch Mindu Sub-branch from 16 September 2009 to 16 September 2010.  

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng and Mr. Cai Jilin provided a joint and several guarantee with a 
ceiling amount of RMB 80,000,000 and Nan’an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. provided a joint 
and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 40,000,000 to secure loans to be taken out by 
Joyou Building Materials under a credit facility agreement concluded between Joyou Building Materials 
and Huaxia Bank Fuzhou Branch Mindu Sub-branch for a credit facility of up RMB 80,000,000 (which is 
additionally secured by a joint and several guarantee provided by an unaffiliated party and by one 
mortgage established by Joyou Building Materials itself). Under such credit facility, Joyou Building 
Materials has taken out four loans in the total amount of RMB 50,000,000. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe and Mr. Cai Jiansheng provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of 
RMB 30,000,000 to secure two loans from China Merchants Bank Quanzhou Branch ("CMB") in the 
total amount of RMB 15,000,000. The guarantee was provided to secure loans taken out by Joyou 
Building Materials from CMB during the period from 5 February 2008 to 5 February 2009. The said 
loans have been fully repaid. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng and Mr. Cai Jilin provided a joint and several guarantee with a 
ceiling amount of RMB 20,000,000 to secure (a) loans to be taken out by Joyou Building Materials 
under a credit facility agreement concluded between CMB and Joyou Building Materials for a credit fa-
cility of up to RMB 6,000,000 (which is additionally secured by one mortgage established by Joyou 
Building Materials with a ceiling amount of RMB 6,000,000), under which Joyou Building Materials has 
taken out one loan in the amount of RMB 6,000,000 and (b) loans to be taken out by Joyou Building 
Materials under the credit facility agreement concluded between CMB and Joyou Building Materials 
with a credit facility up to RMB 14,000,000 (which are additionally secured by the joint and several 
guarantees provided by Joyou Sanitation Technology and a non-affiliated party, with a ceiling amount 
of RMB 14,000,000), under which Joyou Building Materials has taken out three loans in the total 
amount of RMB 14,000,000. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng, Mr. Cai Jilin together with two non-related parties provided a joint 
and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 30,000,000 to secure loans by Joyou Building 
Materials under a credit facility agreement concluded between Quanzhou Commercial Bank Fengze 
Sub-branch ("QCB") and Joyou Building Materials on 4 June 2008 with a credit facility of up to RMB 
30,000,000. The guarantee was provided to secure loans taken out by Joyou Building Materials from 
QCB from 4 June 2008 to 4 June 2009. Under such credit facility, Joyou Building Materials has taken 
out two loans in the total amount of RMB 29,500,000. The said loans have been fully repaid. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng and Mr. Cai Jilin together with two non-related parties provided a 
joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 30,000,000 to secure loans by Joyou Building 
Materials under a credit facility agreement concluded between QCB and Joyou Building Materials on 
23 September 2009 with a credit facility of RMB 30,000,000. The guarantee was provided to secure 
loans taken out by Joyou Building Materials from QCB from 23 September 2009 to 23 September 2010. 
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Under such credit facility, Joyou Building Materials has taken out two loans in the total amount of RMB 
29,500,000. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng and Mr. Cai Jilin provided a joint and several guarantee with a 
ceiling amount of RMB 50,000,000 to secure loans by Joyou Building Materials under a credit facility 
agreement concluded between China Minsheng Bank Quanzhou Branch and Joyou Building Materials 
with a credit facility of up to RMB 50,000,000. The loans under the above Credit Facility Agreement are 
additionally secured by a mortgage provided by Joyou Building Materials with a ceiling amount of RMB 
50,000,000 and a pledge provided by Joyou Building Materials with a ceiling amount of RMB 
50,000,000. Under such credit facility, Joyou Building Materials has taken out two loans in the total 
amount of RMB 10,000,000. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng, Mr. Cai Jilin and Joyou Sanitation Technology provided a joint and 
several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 33,000,000 to secure one loan from Shanghai Pudong 
Development Bank Fuzhou Branch ("SPDB") in the amount of RMB 30,000,000. The guarantee was 
provided to secure loans taken out by Joyou Building Materials from SPDB during the period from 29 
June 2009 to 29 June 2010. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe and Fujian Nan'an Pengxin Copper Co., Ltd. provided a joint and several guarantee 
with a ceiling amount of RMB 80,000,000 to secure loans by Joyou Building Materials and Joyou 
Sanitation Technology under a credit facility agreement concluded with China CITIC Bank Quanzhou 
Branch ("CITIC Quanzhou") with a credit facility of up to RMB 80,000,000. The loans under such Credit 
Facility Agreement are additionally secured by a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of 
RMB 30,000,000 provided by a non-affiliated party, a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount 
of RMB 20,000,000 provided by a non-affiliated party, a mortgage provided by Joyou Galvanization 
with a ceiling amount of RMB 56,060,000, two mortgages provided by Joyou Building Materials, re-
spectively, with a ceiling amount of RMB 10,000,000 and RMB 28,300,000, as well as a mortgage with 
a ceiling amount of RMB 12,000,000 provided by a non-affiliated party. Under such credit facility, Joyou 
Building Materials has taken out four loans in the total amount of RMB 50,000,000.  

• Mr. Cai Jianshe and Mr. Cai Jiansheng provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of 
RMB 180,000,000 to secure four loans from China Construction Bank Nan'an Branch ("CCB") in the 
total amount of RMB 38,500,000. The guarantee was provided to secure loans taken out by Joyou 
Building Materials from CCB during the period from 26 March 2008 to 26 March 2010. Among these 
four loans, one loan in the amount of RMB 15,000,000 and with a term from 6 August 2009 to 6 August 
2010 is additionally secured by a mortgage provided by Joyou Building Materials with a ceiling amount 
of RMB 33,000,000. One loan in the amount of RMB 5,500,000 and with a term from 23 January 2009 
to 23 January 2010 is additionally secured by a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of 
RMB 1,700,000 provided by a non-affiliated party, a mortgage provided by Joyou Building Materials 
with a ceiling amount of RMB 5,400,000, a mortgage provided by Fujian Water Pearl Co., Ltd., a 
non-affiliated party, with a ceiling amount of RMB 12,400,000 and a mortgage provided by Quanzhou 
X-time Optoelectronics Co., Ltd. with a ceiling amount of RMB 21,000,000 and has been repaid. One 
loan in the amount of RMB 15,000,000 and with a term from 6 August 2009 to 6 August 2010 is addi-
tionally secured by a mortgage provided by Joyou Building Materials with a ceiling amount of RMB 
33,000,000. One loan in the amount of RMB 3,000,000 and with a term from 20 January 2009 to 20 
January 2010 has been repaid in full. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 60,000,000 to 
secure loans by Joyou Building Materials under a credit facility agreement concluded between Joyou 
Building Materials and OCBC Bank (China) Limited with a credit facility of up to RMB 58,900,000. 
Under such credit facility, Joyou Building Materials has taken out two loans in a total amount of RMB 
30,000,000 and one loan in the amount of USD 1,500,000.  

• Mr. Cai Jianshe together with Joyou Sanitation Technology provided a joint and several guarantee with 
a ceiling amount of RMB 60,000,000 to secure one loan from China Everbright Bank Fuzhou Branch 
("CEB") in the total amount of RMB 10,000,000. The guarantee was provided to secure loans taken out 
by Joyou Building Materials from CEB during the period from 5 February 2008 to 4 February 2009. The 
said loan was fully repaid. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jilin and Joyou Sanitation Technology as well as three non-affiliated parties 
provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 60,000,000 to secure loans by 
Joyou Building Materials under a Credit Facility Agreement concluded between CEB and Joyou Build-
ing Materials with a credit facility of up to RMB 60,000,000. Under such credit facility, Joyou Building 
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Materials has taken out three loans in the total amount of RMB 60,000,000, among which one loan of 
RMB 30,000,000 with term from 15 April 2009 to 14 October 2009 has been repaid. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe and Mr. Cai Jiansheng provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of 
RMB 40,000,000 to secure one loan from China Minsheng Bank Quanzhou Branch ("CM Bank") in the 
total amount of RMB 4,200,000 and with a term from 25 December 2007 to 25 December 2008, and 
another loan from CM Bank in the amount of RMB 5,800,000 and with term from 16 January 2008 to 
16 January 2009. The said loans have been fully repaid. 

In addition, certain related parties have granted guarantees for Joyou Sanitation Technology's following bank 
loans: 

• Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. provided a guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 
20,000,000 to secure one loan from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Nan'an Sub-branch 
("ICBC") in the amount of RMB 6,400,000. The guarantee was provided to secure loans taken out by 
Joyou Sanitation Technology from ICBC during the period from 3 March 2008 to 2 March 2011. The 
said loan was fully repaid. 

• Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling 
amount of RMB 40,000,000 to secure one loan from ICBC in the amount of RMB 7,500,000 and with 
the term from 26 March 2009 to 23 March 2010 and another loan from ICBC in the amount of RMB 
11,100,000 and with the term from 27 March 2009 to 26 March 2010. The guarantee was provided to 
secure loans taken out by Joyou Sanitation Technology from ICBC during the period from 20 March 
2009 to 19 March 2012. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Fujian Nan'an Pengxin Copper Co., Ltd. and Mr. Wang Jinsheng together with Joyou 
Building Material provide a joint and several guarantee, respectively, with a ceiling amount of RMB 
60,000,000 to secure loans by Joyou Sanitation Technology under a Credit Facility Agreement con-
cluded by Joyou Sanitation Technology and China CITIC Bank Xiamen Branch ("CITIC") with a credit 
facility of up to RMB 60,000,000. Under such credit facility, Joyou Sanitation Technology has taken out 
two loans in the total amount of RMB 20,000,000. The said loans have been repaid. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Fujian Nan'an Pengxin Copper Co., Ltd. provided a joint and several guarantee with a 
ceiling amount of RMB 80,000,000 to secure loans to be taken out by Joyou Building Materials and 
Joyou Sanitation Technology under a credit facility agreement concluded with CITIC Quanzhou with a 
credit facility of up to RMB 80,000,000. The loans under such Credit Facility Agreement are additionally 
secured by a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 30,000,000 provided by a 
non-affiliated party, a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 20,000,000 provided by 
a non-affiliated party, a mortgage provided by Joyou Galvanization with a ceiling amount of RMB 
56,060,000, two mortgages provided by Joyou Building Materials, respectively, with a ceiling amount of 
RMB 10,000,000 and RMB 28,300,000, as well as a mortgage with a ceiling amount of RMB 
12,000,000 provided by a non-affiliated party. Under such credit facility, Joyou Sanitation Technology 
has taken out two loans in the total amount of RMB 30,000,000. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of RMB 33,000,000 and 
Joyou Hong Kong provided a joint and several guarantee with a ceiling amount of USD 5,000,000 to 
secure loans to be taken by Joyou Sanitation Technology under a credit facility agreement concluded 
with HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited Xiamen Branch with a credit facility of up to RMB 
30,000,000 until 31 October 2010. Under such credit facility, Joyou Sanitation Technology has taken 
out one loan in the amount of RMB 30,000,000 with term from 26 November 2009 to 26 May 2010. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng and Mr. Cai Jilin provided a joint and several guarantee with a 
ceiling amount of RMB 97,900,000 and Joyou Hong Kong provided a pledge with a ceiling amount of 
USD 14,800,000 to secure loans to be taken by Joyou Sanitation Technology under a credit facility 
agreement concluded with Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Fuzhou Branch with a credit facility of 
up to RMB 89,000,000. Under such credit facility, Joyou Sanitation Technology has taken out two loans 
in the total amount of RMB 89,000,000. 

• Mr. Cai Jianshe, Mr. Cai Jiansheng, Mr. Cai Jilin and Joyou Building Materials provided a joint and 
several guarantee to secure one loan taken out by Joyou Sanitation Technology from Pudong Devel-
opment Bank Fuzhou Branch in the amount of RMB 30,000,000 and with term from 28 October 2009 to 
28 October 2010. 

Further, Joyou Building Materials has provided securities for certain related parties as follows: 
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• Joyou Building Materials provided a mortgage with a ceiling amount of RMB 44,950,000 for loans to be 
taken out from ICBC by Fujian Nan'an Pengxin Copper Co., Ltd., Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial 
Co., Ltd., Joyou Sanitation Technology and Nan'an Longsheng Science and Technology Industry Co., 
Ltd. from 28 April 2009 and 27 April 2012. In January 2009, Fujian Nan'an Pengxin Copper Co., Ltd. 
took two loans from ICBC in the total amount of RMB 16,250,000, of which one loan is in an amount of 
RMB 9,000,000 with a term from 9 January 2009 to 15 December 2009 and the other loan is in an 
amount of RMB 7,250,000 with a term from 12 January 2009 to 23 December 2009. The above two 
loans have been repaid. In December 2009, Fujian Nan'an Pengxin Copper Co., Ltd. took another two 
loans from ICBC in the total amount of RMB 16,250,000, of which one loan is in an amount of RMB 
9,000,000 with a term from 18 December 2009 to 14 December 2010 and the other loan is in an 
amount of RMB 7,250,000 with a term from 25 December 2009 to 23 December 2010. In August 2008, 
Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. took out one loan from ICBC in the amount of RMB 
1,800,000 with a term from 25 August 2008 to 12 August 2009. Such loan has been repaid. In August 
2009, Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. took out another loan from ICBC in the amount of 
RMB 1,800,000 with a term from 19 August 2009 to 13 August 2010. In November 2008, Nan'an 
Longsheng took out a loan in the amount of RMB 9,400,000 with a term from 7 November 2008 to 6 
November 2009. Such loan has been repaid. In May 2009, Nan'an Longsheng took out a loan in the 
amount of RMB 8,200,000 with a term from 25 May 2009 to 18 May 2010. In November 2009, Nan'an 
Longsheng took out another loan in the amount of RMB 9,400,000 with a term from 17 November 2009 
to 10 November 2010. 

• In 2008, Joyou Building Materials undertook joint liability up to a maximum amount of RMB 1,400,000 
to secure loans to be taken out from ICBC by Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. from 11 
August 2008 to 10 August 2011. Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. has taken out one loan 
from ICBC in the amount of RMB 1,400,000, which has been repaid. 

• In 2009, Joyou Building Materials undertook joint liability up to a maximum amount of RMB 1,400,000 to 
secure loans to be taken out from ICBC by Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. from 20 Au-
gust 2009 to 13 August 2010. Nan'an Zhongyu Hardware Industrial Co., Ltd. has taken out one loan 
from ICBC in the amount of RMB 1,400,000. 

None of the guarantees were provided against consideration. 

Other guarantees 
 
Mr. Cai Jianshe has also undertaken agreements to reimburse certain companies within the group for any 
losses arising from additional social insurance and housing fund payments as well as additional payments of 
enterprise income tax. Further details are provided in note 28.2. 
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28. Commitments and contingencies 
 
28.1 Commitments 
 
As at 31 December 2009, Joyou Group did not have any material commitments. 
 
28.2 Contingent liabilities 
 
Up to 31 December 2009, as a warrantor, the Group has guaranteed the bank loans of third parties to an 
aggregate amount of kEUR 3,273 (previous year: kEUR 6,677). The financial statements of the warrantees 
indicate that the debtors are able to pay their debts as they mature, and the directors are of the view that no 
material losses will arise in respect of the guarantees at the date of these financial statements. 
 
According to PRC law, in particular, Chinese regulations for social insurance and housing funds, the Group is, 
among others, required to make contributions for the social insurance and for the housing funds to its em-
ployees. In 2009, Joyou has started to make these payments to all of its employees, but considers the risk for 
additional payments for prior periods to be unlikely. As at reporting date, Joyou believes that such claim would 
not exceed kEUR 2,000. As at 30 October 2009 Mr. Cai Jianshe has undertaken an agreement with the re-
spective Group companies according to which he would reimburse the Group companies for any losses in-
curred for such additional social insurance and housing funds payments. 
 
As at 31 December 2009, Joyou had contingent liabilities concerning tax liabilities of approximately 
kEUR 2,712. Until 31 December 2007, Joyou calculated its Enterprise Income Tax based on the so-called 
"deemed profit" method. According to this method, income tax is calculated based on total revenues from the 
business multiplied by a deemed profit rate and a tax rate. The deemed rate of profit on revenues was 5% of 
revenues for Joyou Sanitation Technology and 7% of revenues for Joyou Building Materials. If Chinese tax 
authorities do not recognize Joyou's calculations of income tax, in particular, if they rule that one or more of 
the PRC subsidiaries of the Group were not entitled to use the deemed profit method in order to determine 
their income tax payable, then each such subsidiary may be required to pay additional Enterprise Income Tax 
for the respective previous periods in the past. As at 30 October 2009 Mr. Cai Jianshe has undertaken an 
agreement with the respective Group companies according to which he would reimburse the Group compa-
nies for any losses incurred for such income tax payment obligations. 
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29. Risks management objectives and policies 
 
The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The Group's financial assets and 
liabilities by category are summarised in note 14. The main types of risks are market risk, credit risk and li-
quidity risk. 
 
To date, the group does not have a comprehensive risk management system in operation. Due to the rapid 
growth the group has experienced in recent years, it is aware of the need to implement such a system. 
 
The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it 
write options. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.  
 
The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to foreign cur-
rency risk, interest rate risk and certain other price risks, which result from both its operating and investing 
activities. 
 
29.1 Market risk 
 
29.1.1. Foreign currency sensitivity 
 
Most of the Group's transactions are carried out in Chinese RMB. Exposures to currency exchange rates 
arise from the Group's overseas sales and purchases, which are primarily denominated in US dollars (USD). 
The group also holds cash balances denominated in US dollars. During the course of the period, the average 
balance held was immaterial and was not hedged. 
 
The Group does not currently actively take measures to mitigate its exposure to foreign currency risk in sales 
and purchases. The RMB-denominated prices for copper and zinc are based on the value of the USD as the 
USD is the most prevalent currency in which copper and zinc are quoted on the world market. Since Joyou 
does not hedge against fluctuations in commodity prices, an increase in the US dollar-denominated com-
modity prices against the RMB would increase Joyou’s costs incurred in RMB and expressed in EUR in its 
financial statements. However, although Joyou does not hedge against fluctuations in commodity prices, 
Joyou passes some of these cost increases to customers in its OEM/ODM business and to distributors in its 
own brand business. 
 
Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into EUR at the closing rate, are as 
follows. 
 

 
 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity in regards to the Group's financial assets and 
financial liabilities and the USD/RMB exchange rate 'all other things being equal'. 

It assumes a +/- 10% change of the RMB/USD exchange rate for the four months ended 31 December 2009. 
This percentage has been determined based on the average market volatility in exchange rates in the previ-
ous 12 months. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group's foreign currency financial instruments held at 
each reporting date and also takes into account forward exchange contracts that offset effects from changes 
in currency exchange rates.  

If the RMB had strengthened against the USD by 10% then this would have had the following impact:  
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If the RMB had weakened against the USD by 10% then this would have had the following impact: 
 

 
 
Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the period depending on the volume of overseas transac-
tions. Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group's exposure to currency 
risk. 
 
29.1.2. Interest rate sensitivity 
 
The Group's policy is to minimise interest rate cash flow risk exposures on short financing. At 31 December 
2009, the Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through short-term bank borrowings being 
renewed at interest rates different to those currently in place. The exposure to interest rates for the Group's 
funds deposited with banks is considered immaterial. 
 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates of +/- 2%. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current 
market conditions. The calculations are based on a change in the average market interest rate for each pe-
riod, and the financial instruments held at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. 
All other variables are held constant. 
 

 
 
29.2 Credit risk analysis 

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised 
at the reporting date, as summarised below:  
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The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables. Cash is placed with credit-
worthy financial institutions. The Group's policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties. 
 
The Group's management considers that trade and other receivables that are not impaired or past due for 
each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. 

None of the Group's financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 

Some of the unimpaired trade receivables are past due as at the reporting date. Financial assets past due but 
not impaired can be shown as follows: 

 

In respect of trade and other receivables, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to 
any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics except for Joyou’s dis-
tributors. Trade receivables consist of a large number of distributors in various geographical areas of the 
PRC. Although they can be seen as a group of counter parties having similar characteristics, those distribu-
tors are independent of each other and share, therefore, no joint credit risk other than the normal business 
risk associated with the sanitary ware market in the PRC. 

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable 
banks with at least sufficiently high credit ratings by the PRC. 

29.3 Liquidity risk analysis 

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for 
long-term financial liabilities as well as forecast cash inflows and outflows due in day-to-day business. Li-
quidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-week basis, as well as on the 
basis of a rolling 30-day projection. Long-term liquidity needs for a 180-day and a 360-day lookout period are 
identified monthly. Net cash requirement are compared to available borrowing facilities in order to determine 
headroom or any shortfalls. This analysis shows if available borrowing facilities are expected to be sufficient 
over the lookout period. 

The Group maintains cash to meet its liquidity requirements for 30-day periods at a minimum. Funding for 
long-term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the 
ability to increase its share capital. 

 

As at 31 December 2009, the Group's liabilities have contractual maturities (including interest payments 
where applicable) as summarised below: 
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This compares to the maturity of the Group's financial liabilities as at 31 December 2008 as follows: 

 

The above amounts reflect the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which may differ to the carrying values of 
the liabilities at the reporting date. 
 
29.4 Capital management policies and procedures 
 
The Group's capital management objectives are: 
 
• to ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going concern; 
• to ensure sufficient capital to achieve the Group’s strategic goals; and 
• to provide an adequate return to shareholders  
 
by pricing products commensurately with the level of risk.  
 
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity, loans and cash and cash equiva-
lents as presented on the face of the statement of financial position. 
 
Joyou AG intends to limit its interest-bearing current and non-current liabilities on average to two times the 
amount of earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”). Furthermore, Joyou 
AG’s goal in capital management is to achieve and maintain a capital-to-overall financing ratio of 1:1 to 1:1.5. 
Depending on the future development of the banking industry in the PRC, Joyou AG may increase the inter-
est-bearing current and non-current liabilities compared to capital and therefore increase its gearing. How-
ever, given the significant growth opportunities, short term deviations from the intended capital-to-overall fi-
nancing ratio are acceptable. 
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The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e. equity and financial 
liabilities. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
Capital for the reporting periods under review is summarised as follows: 
 

 
 
 
30. Events after the reporting date 
 
In the first quarter of 2010, Mr. Cai Jianshe, the four investors in Joyou Hong Kong, other shareholders in 
Joyou AG and Joyou AG intend to enter into a series of contracts pursuant to which the investors in Joyou 
Hong Kong will transfer their Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares respectively to Joyou 
AG. As compensation, Joyou AG will increase its share capital and issue new shares to the investors (or 
companies designated by them) such that each current investor in Joyou Hong Kong (or its designees) holds 
a percentage in Joyou AG’s ordinary shares approximately equivalent to the percentage of Preferred Shares 
previously held by that investor in Joyou Hong Kong. It is intended that the filing of the capital increase with 
the commercial register will be made simultaneously with the filing of the capital increase for the IPO in 2010. 
At the time of filing of the capital increase with the commercial register, legal title in the respective shares in 
Joyou Hong Kong will still be with the four investors in Joyou Hong Kong, who will only be contractually 
obliged to transfer ownership to Joyou AG after registration of the capital increase. However, after completion 
of all transactions, Joyou AG will be the sole shareholder in Joyou Hong Kong. Joyou AG intends to convert 
the Series A and Series B Preference Shares in Joyou Hong Kong into ordinary shares after completion of the 
transfers. 
 
Apart from the above-mention transaction, no adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred 
between the reporting date and the date of authorisation. 
 
 
Hamburg, 11 March 2010 
Joyou AG 
 
Board of Management 
 
    
Jainshe Cai Jilin Cai Gang Zheng Zufang Li 
 



 

Audit report 

 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Joyou AG, 

Hamburg, comprising the statement of comprehensive income, statement of fi-

nancial position, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements together with the group man-

agement report for the accounting period from January 1, 2009 to December 

31, 2009. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the 

group management report in accordance with the International Financial Re-

porting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the additional require-

ments of German commercial law pursuant to § (Article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 

1 HGB (“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code) are the responsibili-

ty of the parent Company’s Board of Management. Our responsibility is to ex-

press an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the group 

management report based on our audit. 

 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with § 317 HGB and German generally accepted standards for the audit of fi-

nancial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute 

of Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards require that we plan 

and perform the audit such way that misstatements materially affecting the pre-

sentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial 

reporting standards and in the group management report are detected with 

reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic 

and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstate-

ments are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The ef-

fectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence 

supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the 

group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the 

framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the financial statements 

of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of the entities to 

be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used 

and significant estimates made by the Company’s Board of Management, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial state-

ments and of the group management report. We believe that our audit provides 

a reasonable basis for our opinion. 



 

Our audit has not led to any reservations. 

 

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial sta-

tements comply with the IFRS as adopted by the EU, the additional require-

ments of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a 

true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations 

of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The group management 

report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole 

provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the op-

portunities and risks of future development. 

 

Cologne, 11 March 2009 

  
 Grant Thornton GmbH 
 Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
   
   
   
   
 Friedrich Graf von Kanitz Ralf Clemens 
 Wirtschaftsprüfer 

(German certified auditor) 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 

(German certified auditor) 
 



Products/Produkte

bathroom faucets
Wasserhähne für das Bad

shower products
Produkte für Duschen

other bathroom products
Sonstige Badezimmerprodukte

kitchen products
Küchenprodukte

other faucets and sanitary
hardware
Sonstige Wasserhähne und 
Sanitärprodukte
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Guo Jingjing is brand ambassador of Joyou. She 
has won four Olympic gold medals in diving.




